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Quality is never an 
accident; it is the result 
of high intention, sincere 
effort, intelligent direction 
and skilful execution.
– William Foster
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NOTICE is hereby given that an 
Annual General Meeting of Proven 
Investments Limited will be held at 
20 Micoud Street, Castries, St. Lucia, 
on September 15, 2015 at 11:00 a.m. 
to consider and, if thought fit, pass the 
following resolutions:

1.	 To receive the Audited Group Accounts 
for the year ended 31 March 2015 and 
the Reports of the Directors and Auditors 
circulated herewith
Resolution No. 1

“THAT the Audited Group Accounts for 
the year ended 31 March 2015 and the 
Reports of the Directors and Auditors 
circulated with the Notice convening the 
meeting be and are hereby adopted.”

2.	 To ratify interim dividends and declare 
them final
Resolution No. 2

“THAT the interim dividends paid on 
24 June 2014, 10 September 2014, 2 
December 2014 and 11 March 2015, be 
and they are hereby declared as final and 
no further dividend be paid in respect of 
the year under review.”

3.	 To appoint Auditors and authorize the 
Directors to fix the remuneration of 
the Auditors
Resolution No. 3

“THAT KPMG Eastern Caribbean, having 
agreed to continue in office as Auditors 
for the Company, be hereby appointed 
to hold office until the conclusion of 
the next Annual General Meeting at a 
remuneration to be fixed by the Directors 
of the Company.”

4.	 To fix the remuneration of the Directors
Resolution No. 4

“THAT the amount shown in the Accounts 
of the Company for the year ended 31 
March 2015 as remuneration of the 
Directors for their services as Directors 
be and is hereby approved.”

Dated the 10th day of July, 2015
By Order of the Board

Rhory McNamara
Company Secretary

Note: Members are reminded of the provisions of 
Regulations 37-38 of the Articles of Association of the 
Company, which provide as follows:

37.	 A member may be represented at a meeting of 
members by a proxy who may speak and vote on 
behalf of the member.

38.	 The instrument appointing a proxy shall be produced 
at the place appointed for the meeting before the 
time for holding the meeting at which the person 
named in such instrument proposes to vote.   A 
corporation may execute a form of proxy under the 
hand of a duly authorised officer of such corporation.

The instrument appointing a Proxy must be in writing and 
a Proxy Form is attached for your convenience.

NOTICE OF

ANNUAL 
GENERAL 
MEETING PROVEN Investments Limited (“PROVEN”) is 

incorporated in St. Lucia as an International 
Business Company (“IBC”) with its registered 
office located at McNamara Corporate 
Services Inc., 20 Micoud Street, Castries,  
St. Lucia. 

In February 2010, PIL successfully raised 
US$20,000,000 in equity capital through its 
fully subscribed private placement of ordinary 
shares which was one of the largest private 
or public US Dollar equity offerings in the 
history of Jamaica’s capital market. The 
Company subsequently raised approximately 
US$9.6 million from a rights issue in August 
of the same year. The ordinary shares in the 
Company were listed on the Jamaica Stock 
Exchange (“JSE”) in July 2011. This was also 
the JSE’s first US Dollar denominated ordinary 
share listing.

In May 2014 PIL raised an additional US$10.3 
million from a rights issue, which served to 
strengthen the capital base of the company 
pending subsequent acquisitions.

PIL’s 8% 5-year Preference Share offer 
successfully closed on December 23, 2011 
raising J$1 billion for the Company. The 
Preference Shares were subsequently listed 
on the JSE on January 31, 2012.

The primary business of the Company is the 
holding of tradable securities for investment 
purposes, but the Company is also determined 
to pursue private equity opportunities as 
they arise, provided they are consistent 
with the overall aims and objectives of the 
Company. To date PIL has closed six private  
equity transactions:

Knutsford Express Limited: During the 
financial year, PROVEN increased its stake 
in Knutsford Express Limited (“Knutsford 
Express”) to a total of 20% ownership in 
the company, resulting in Knutsford Express 
being classified as an Associated Company 
of PROVEN. Knutsford Express continued to 
generate improved results due to the growth 
in passenger travel. 

Access Financial Services Limited: In 
December 2014, PROVEN acquired a 49.27% 
stake in Access Financial Services Limited 
(“AFS”), making it the largest shareholder 
in the micro-lending company.  With this 
acquisition, PIL’s position in the microfinance 
industry was cemented with AFS being one 
of the largest microcredit outfits in the island. 
Established in 2000 and listed on the Junior 
Market of the Jamaica Stock Exchange, AFS 
operates from seventeen locations offering a 
wide range of lending solutions through its 
personal and business loan suite of products.  

PWL Transition Limited: In June 2014, PIL 
purchased 100% shareholdings in First Global 
Financial Services Limited (“FGFS”) and has 
since renamed the company PWL Transition 
Limited. With this acquisition PIL has realized an 
expansion in its Wealth Management services 
to now include Pension Fund Management; 
the Company is a licensed Securities Dealer 
with the Financial Services Commission. 

PROVEN REIT Limited: PIL is the 85% majority 
owner of Proven REIT Limited, which was 
formed as the vehicle for both residential and 
commercial real estate related investments 
for PIL, with PIL being the majority owner.  In 
February 2012, the first of these investments 
was completed with a residential property 
being purchased through Proven Kingsway 
Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Proven 
REIT Limited. The property, “ei8ht”, is in the 
final stages of development as a 31 unit  
studio complex.

Asset Management Company Limited: Asset 
Management Company Limited (“AMCL”) is a 
consumer and business financing entity that is 
incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica. They 
are the owners of the Easy Own and eZEEas123 
brands. Launched in October 2006, Easy 
Own allows consumers to purchase furniture 
and major appliances on hire purchase from 
participating vendors. 

On March 2, 2015, the entire loan portfolio 
of Asset Management Company Limited 
(“AMCL”) was sold to Access Financial 
Services Limited. This has resulted in 
considerable synergies and cost savings across 
the Group, As a result of this sale, AMCL has 
ceased operations as a micro-lender and will 
eventually be wound up.

PROVEN Wealth Limited: Proven Wealth 
Limited (“PWL”) is a licensed securities dealer 
with the Financial Services Commission, which 
has regulatory control over the securities 
industry in Jamaica under the Securities 
Act. The PWL team is experienced and has 
managed billions of dollars of investments, 
delivered consistent returns and expert advice 
over the last twenty years in the financial 
services sector. Their know-how spans asset 
management, corporate finance, financial 
advisory services, merchant banking, stock 
brokerage, pension fund management and 
unit trust management.

Company 
Profile
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PROVEN invests its capital for the ultimate 
benefit of its shareholders, who will share in 
the returns of the Company and provides 
shareholders with:
•	 above average US$ fixed income returns
•	 international and regional diversification
•	 a tax-efficient investment structure
•	 an excellent currency hedge
•	 strong risk management 
•	 a robust corporate governance structure

The assets and operations of PROVEN are 
managed by Proven Management Limited 
(“PML”), which has been engaged as the 
Investment Manager. The Investment Manager 
has certain investment decisionmaking 
responsibilities, in accordance with the 
Investment Policy.

PML is incorporated in Jamaica for the 
purpose of managing the investments and 
operations of Proven Investments Limited. 
PML is licensed and regulated by the FSC as 
a securities dealer. 

The Investment Management Agreement 
between PROVEN and PML provides for 
the following compensation for PML as the 
Investment Manager:

Management Fee
A management fee of 2% per annum of the 
average Net Asset Value of PROVEN will be 
payable monthly for managing PROVEN’s 
assets and operations.

The 10,000 Manager’s Preference Shares, 
which collectively hold 50% of the voting 
rights in PROVEN on matters other than the 
Investment Manager’s fees (on which each 
Manager’s Preference Share carries one vote), 
are now held by MPS Holding Limited, an 
investment holding company incorporated in 
St. Lucia as an IBC. 

PML brings together one of the most 
experienced teams in the Caribbean financial 
sector, which in aggregate has successfully 
managed billions of dollars of investments, 
delivering consistent returns and expert 
financial advice over the past two decades. 
The team includes:

Christopher Bicknell, Chairman 
Christopher Bicknell is widely regarded as one 
of Jamaica’s most successful entrepreneurs 
and is currently the Group C.E.O. and Finance 
Manager of Tank-Weld Ltd.  Mr. Bicknell is a 
Certified Public Accountant (CPA).

Garfield Sinclair, Director
Garfield Sinclair is the Country Manager of 
one of the region’s largest telecommunications 
giants, LIME Jamaica & Cayman. Prior to this 
Garfield was the President & Chief Operating 
Officer of  Dehring Bunting & Golding Limited 
(‘DB&G”).

Mr. Sinclair’s educational achievements include 
the Executive Certificate in Strategy and 
Innovation from Massachusetts Institute of 
Technology Sloan School of Management, 
Executive Development Program at the 
University of Pennsylvania (Wharton), 

California Board of Accountancy – C.P.A 
licence (non-practising), Uniform Certified 
Public Accounting examination and a Bachelor 
of Science degree in Business Administration 
(accounting) from the San Diego State 
University.

Christopher Williams, President 
Christopher Williams is responsible for 
overseeing the operations of PML and 
providing strategic direction and leadership 
towards the achievement of the organization’s 
overall goals and objectives, as set by the 
Board of Directors.

Mr. Williams has a M.B.A. in Strategic 
Marketing and Finance from York University.

Johann Heaven, Senior VP, Investments
Johann Heaven is responsible for leading the 
investment team of PML, including overseeing 
the research and analysis on local, regional 
and global investment opportunities across all 
asset classes, leading to the decisionmaking 
and execution process. 

Mr. Heaven is a Chartered Financial Analyst 
(CFA) charter holder, and holds the Financial 
Risk Manager (FRM) certification, and has a 
Masters Degree in Finance from the University 
of London.

Sherri Murray, Vice President, Operations/
Human Resources & Company Secretary
Sherri Murray is responsible for providing 
operational and board support along with 
strategic human resource management. Prior 
to this, Mrs. Murray was a Vice President at 
Dehring, Bunting & Golding Limited (DB&G). 
Mrs. Murray has an MBA from McGill University, 
Canada and a B.Sc. from the University of the 
West Indies.

On Leave of Absence 

Peter Bunting
Peter Bunting currently serves as Minister 
of National Security of the Government of 
Jamaica. He has dedicated his life to three 
driving principles: Integrity, Respect, and 
Results. As co-founder, CEO and Chairman 
of Dehring Bunting & Golding Limited (DB&G), 
Mr. Bunting put these principles to work and 
demonstrated his commitment to excellence 
in building one of Jamaica’s most innovative 
and successful financial institutions.

Mark Golding
Mr. Golding currently serves as Minister of 
Justice of the Government of Jamaica and 
is a specialist corporate Attorney-At-law. He 
was a founding shareholder and director of  
DB&G and played an integral role in the 
success of that company.

Corporate Governance 
The Board of Directors of PROVEN Investments 
Limited is responsible for promoting the 
success of the Company by providing the 
strategic direction and by directing its affairs.  
As such the Board has adopted a Corporate 
Governance Policy to promote its effective 
functioning. This policy can be viewed on our 
company website www.weareproven.com. 

http://www.weareproven.com
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I am pleased to report that PROVEN 
Investments Limited continued on a steady 
growth path through the 2014-2015 financial 
year with notable accomplishments across 
the company’s key strategies of carry-trade, 
portfolio positioning and private equity. 

Consolidated net profit for the financial year 
ended March 31, 2015 amounted to US$5.37 
million (excluding profits attributable to non-
controlling interests) which represents an 
increase of 41.6% when compared to the same 
period last year. This profit represents a return 
on average equity of 12.56%. 

Carry-trade performed well this year with a 
substantial increase of 137.7% in net interest 
income from US$3.22 million to US$7.65 
million over the same period last year. Part of 
our carry-trade strategy included a realignment 
of the investment portfolio during the year, 
resulting in a decline of dividend income by 
35.2% from US$0.68 million in the previous 
year to US$0.44 million. 

The company realised gains from its Portfolio 
Positioning which increased by 3.7%, when 
a one-off loss on the sale of securities from 
the PWLTL acquisition of US$2.68 million is 
excluded from the results. We continue to 
monitor the investment arena and strategically 
adjust our positioning while diversifying our 
portfolio across fixed income sectors and non-
bond sources of income. 

Our Private equity strategy is benefiting 
from keen exploration and analysis of the 
considerable opportunities throughout the 
region.  Proven Wealth Limited contributed 
US$829,000 in net profits to the Group.  
During the final quarter of the financial year, 
selected assets and liabilities were transferred 
to PWL from PWLTL, including the investment 
and equity trading operations. As a result, total 
assets of PWL increased to US$198.2 million 
from US$43.2 million as at March 31, 2014.  

PWL Transition Limited (PWLTL), formerly 
called First Global Financial Services Limited, 
contributed US$2.85 million to Net Profits of 
the Group.  Following the transfer of selected 
assets and liabilities to PWL, Pension Fund 
Management and Administration will continue 
to be the major business segment for PWLTL.  

In December 2014, PROVEN acquired a 
49.27% stake in Access Financial Services 
Limited (AFS), making it the largest shareholder 
in that company.  AFS, one of the largest micro-
credit entities, has contributed considerably to 
the results of the Group since its acquisition, 
producing net profits of US$1.19 million 
for the quarter ended March 31, 2015.  On 
March 2, 2015, the entire loan portfolio of 
Asset Management Company Limited (AMCL) 
was sold to Access Financial Services Limited, 
resulting in considerable cost savings across 
the Group.  As a result of this sale, AMCL has 
ceased operations as a micro-lender and will 
eventually be wound up.  

Knutsford Express Limited is now classified as 
an Associated Company of PROVEN, having 
increased our share ownership to 20% during 
the year.  PROVEN REIT Limited is making 
progress on its residential development on 
Kingsway Avenue in Kingston, Jamaica, with 
completion scheduled for the end of June 
2015.  All units are expected to be fully sold 
by the end of the second quarter of the 
2015/2016 financial year.

The upcoming year shows great promise, as we 
consolidate the acquisitions of the past year, 
while aggressively growing our spread income 
and portfolio positioning opportunities. We 
will continue to capitalize on private equity 
opportunities in the market with a view to 
further stimulating our growth while always 
maximizing stakeholder value.

As Chairman of the Board, I will continue to 
provide leadership and strategic direction to 
guide the continued growth and expansion 
of PROVEN Investments Limited and its 
subsidiaries; the Board remains committed 
to its targeted approach that includes 
strengthening existing business relationships 
and forming new partnerships that realize the 
vision of the Group.  

On behalf of the board of directors, I wish 
to express sincere gratitude to all our 
shareholders, our clients, our customers and 
all our other stakeholders for their continued 
support and trust. I am grateful to the directors, 
and management and staff of our subsidiaries, 
who continuously exemplify the PROVEN 
values of integrity, respect, teamwork and 
performance; with their loyalty and dedication 
this Company remains the standard of success 
for Jamaica’s financial sector.

Sincerely,

Hon. Hugh Hart, O.J.
Chairman
PROVEN Investments Limited

Chairman’s 
Report
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Hon. Hugh Hart, O.J.
Chairman

Hugh Hart was admitted to the Bar at Grays 
Inn, England in1953 and admitted as a 
Solicitor in Jamaica in April 1956. Mr. Hart 
is a former Senior Partner and Consultant 
with the firm Clinton Hart & Co. He is also a 
founding Partner of Hart Muirhead Fatta where 
he practises commercial law, specialising in the 
areas of taxation, real estate development, 
mining and corporate restructuring. He has 
considerable experience in government, 
having served as a member of the Jamaican 
Senate from 1980-1993, as Minister of Mining 
& Energy from 1983 -1989 and as Minister of 
Tourism from 1984 –1989.

In 2011 Mr. Hart was awarded the Order 
of Jamaica for outstanding contribution 
to the legal profession and bauxite and 
mining sectors. 

Profile of
Directors

Rhory McNamara
Director & Company Secretary

Rhory McNamara is an attorney- at- law 
by profession and a Partner in the law firm 
McNamara & Co. located in St. Lucia, where he 
specializes in corporate and banking law and 
property acquisition. He is also the Manager of 
McNamara Corporate Services Inc. where he 
has amassed nine years of experience in the 
formation and management of International 
Business Companies, International Insurance 
Companies and International Mutual Funds 
formed under the respective governing 
legislation in Saint Lucia.

Yvor Nassief
Director

Yvor Nassief is a well accomplished Dominican 
businessman and former Executive Director of 
Dominica Coconut Products 1987-1995 and 
Fort Young Hotel 1986-2009, both in Dominica. 
He is currently the Managing Director and 
owner of Archipelago Trading Ltd., Dominica, 
involved in money services, insurance, duty-
free retail, real estate development and 
distribution. Between 1995 and 1997, he 
served in the Dominican Senate as Minister 
of Tourism and currently serves as Chairman 
of Invest Dominica, the island’s investment 
promotion agency. He holds a Bachelor of Arts 
degree from York University, Toronto.

Garfield Sinclair
Director

Garfield Sinclair is the Country Manager of 
one of the region’s largest telecommunications 
giants, LIME Jamaica & Cayman. Prior to this, 
Garfield was the President & Chief Operating 
Officer of Dehring Bunting & Golding Limited 
where he was responsible for the overall 
performance of the operations, treasury and 
asset trading, brokerage, marketing and 
information technology units.

He has an Executive Certificate in Strategy 
and Innovation from Massachusetts Institute 
of Technology (Sloan School of Management), 
Executive Development Program at the 
University of Pennsylvania (Wharton), the 
California Board of Accountancy – C.P.A. 
license (non-practising), Uniform Certified 
Public Accounting examination and a Bachelor 
of Science degree in Business Administration 
from the San Diego State University.

John A. Collins
Director

John Collins has had a distinguished career 
in Trust banking, spanning over 40 years. 
During this time, he served in senior positions 
in Trust companies in England, Kenya and 
Jamaica, before moving to Cayman in 1966 
to open and manage the Bank of Nova Scotia 
Trust Company (Cayman) Limited. In 1973, 
he moved to Ansbacher (Cayman) Limited, 
where he stayed until retiring as Executive 
Director in 1995, but continued as a non-
Executive Director until October 2000. Since 
2000, he has acted as consultant and director 
to a private group of Trusts and Companies. 

Mr. Collins is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute 
of Bankers and was appointed a Member of 
the Most Excellent Order of the British Empire 
in Her Majesty the Queen’s New Year’s Honour 
Listing 1986.

Jeffrey Gellineau
Director

Jeffrey Gellineau has over 27 years of extensive 
audit experience at KPMG, Barbados.  He has 
been the engagement partner in managing 
and providing audit and other advisory services 
to clients, both regionally and internationally.  
This involved assessment of client’s internal 
controls and business risks to ensure that they 
were adequately addressed.  Mr. Gellineau is 
a member of both the Canadian Institute of 
Chartered Accountants and the Institute of the 
Chartered Accountants of Barbados.

During the period January 2009 to 
November 2010, he was the Project 
Coordinator for a World Bank-funded project 
“Strengthening Institutional Capacity for 
Project Implementation” which addressed 
Capacity Building for Financial Management 
and Procurement for Capital Projects in the  
OECS Countries.
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Management
Discussion &
Analysis
OPERATING ENVIRONMENT
International
The IMF estimates that real value-added in 
advanced economies expanded 1.8% in 2014, 
0.5 percentage points higher than in 2013. 
Specifically, growth in the USA (2.4%), UK 
(2.6%), and Canada (2.4%), exceeded that 
in the Euro Area, Japan, and other advanced 
economies. Divergence and volatility will 
continue to play a major role for the world 
economy in 2015 – 2016. Some economies 
are projected to continue their recovery— 
most notably the United States, the United 
Kingdom, and India, whereas Europe, Asia and 
some emerging markets are likely to continue 
to experience weak growth and volatility.

In January 2015, weakening demand from 
Asia and the Euro Area and a 36.9% reduction 
in average global crude oil prices during Q4 
2014 prompted the IMF to revise its 2015 
forecast for global economic growth from 3.8% 
to 3.5%. However, advanced economies are 
now expected to grow 0.1 percentage points 
more quickly as faster-than-expected recovery 
and lower crude oil prices have boosted 
prospects for the United States.

Interest rates globally are likely to remain 
at relatively low levels during 2015, with a 
high probability of an increase in rates in the 
United States towards the end of 2015, with 
the majority of the Federal Open Market 
Committee members expecting an increase. 
For 2017 and the longer run, the median 
expectation of the committee members is 3.75 
percent for the Fed Fund rate. Additionally, 
given the strength of the U.S. economy, a 
further appreciation of the U.S. dollar against 
other major currencies is likely.

Economic shocks cannot be excluded in 2015, 
especially considering the weakness of Brazil, 
China, Europe, and other major economies. 
Geopolitical tensions also remain heightened, 
including in the Middle East and Ukraine. Oil 
prices could increase quickly should supply or 
demand change faster than expected.

Regional
During 2014, Caribbean economic activity 
benefited from the modest economic 
expansion in its major trading partners. The 
recent decline in global crude oil prices 
has reduced the levels of inflation in some 
Caribbean markets, and any reduction in 
consumer prices bodes well for domestic 
consumption of goods and services in 
Caribbean oil importers in 2015. As a result, 
overall economic activity expanded in the 
Caribbean, buoyed by stronger demand for 
both stay-over and cruise tourism services and 
additional foreign-financed, private, real estate 
development and construction.

Countries with a strong dependence on the 
United States and/or the United Kingdom—
most notably Jamaica, Barbados, and The 
Bahamas—will benefit from tailwinds of the 
U.S. and U.K. recovery. These three countries 
should also benefit from improved terms of 
trade as the general weakness of the world 
economy should keep commodity prices low. 

The situation is different for commodity-
producing nations, including Trinidad and 
Tobago, which is highly dependent on oil and 
gas exports and lower prices will likely reduce 
fiscal revenues and expenditure. Trinidad and 
Tobago however boasts significant foreign 
exchange buffers and a well-diversified energy 
sector capable of cushioning the impact of a 
long-term decline in prices.

Notwithstanding the rebound in external 
demand, weak government balance sheets, 
persistently high unemployment, and adverse 
weather conditions continue to restrict more 
positive expansion in regional domestic 
activity. Despite additional taxation, public 
sector layoffs, and other fiscal consolidation 
efforts imposed over the last two years, fiscal 
deficits improved in approximately half of the 
major 17 countries of the region.

Capital expansions contributed to greater 
construction activity in some markets at 
the expense of worsening fiscal balances, 
while persistently weak revenues and limited 
financing forced other governments to delay 
planned construction projects. Further, most 
governments continue to borrow to fund their 
operations as only 5 countries—Anguilla, the 
Cayman Islands, St. Kitts and Nevis, the Turks 
and Caicos Islands, and Trinidad and Tobago—
recorded fiscal surpluses over the period. 

The emergence of Cuba as a new tourism 
powerhouse, with potential to grab a large 
share of the U.S. market, will present aggressive 
competition for other tourist destinations in 
the Caribbean. The impact would not be 
limited to tourism, since Cuba could also 
become a competitor for shipping, logistics 
and U.S. investments in general.

International metal prices are expected to 
remain low in 2015; this year, aluminium and 
gold in particular are estimated to sustain levels 
similar to 2014 on account of increased supply 
given higher reinvestments by producers. The 
relatively constant prices in 2015 should keep 
export returns stable for Caribbean countries 
that produce bauxite. However, a downside 
risk for prices on metals would be a sharp 
economic slowdown of China, which accounts 
for almost half of world metal demand. 

Higher U.S. dollar interest rates could increase 
international borrowing costs for Caribbean 
countries even though the effects should be 
muted. Higher U.S. Federal Reserve rates 
could also put pressure on domestic interest 
rates and exchange rates, especially for 
countries with a fixed exchange rate, which 
would need to adjust domestic interest rates.

Modification of the PetroCaribe agreement 
would have important consequences for 
Jamaica, Guyana and several OECS countries. 
As such, careful macroeconomic management 
and the continued increase of buffers remain 
the main policy objectives for Caribbean 
countries in 2015.

2014 Review 2015/2016 Outlook
1.8% Real GDP Growth recorded by 
Advanced Economies in 2015

IMF revised world GDP projections 
for 2015 from 3.8% to 3.5%

Volatile Commodity Prices: Oil prices fell over 50% in 2014 Oil to find support around $45-60

Monetary Policy remained largely accommodative: 
US FED exit QE while Eurozone launched 
QE initiative to stimulate growth

Global interest rates expected to remain low, 
high probability of US rate hike in second 
half of 2015. Action to be data dependent

Geopolitical and event soecific risk were 
moderate (ISIS, Ebola outbreak, vulnerability 
of specific oil producing nations

Relatively slower growth amongst BRIC 
countries and oil producers could cause further 
shocks - contagion and deflation risk looks

Tourism and oil import dependent Caribbean countries 
benefited from gradual recoery in the US and UK.

Local demand and real GDP expected to 
expand as Caribbean Countries consolidate 
the gains of 2014; TT to pursue fiscal restraint.
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Domestic interest rates should also remain 
contained as lower inflation would allow for 
an easing of monetary policy. The recently 
announced inflation rate of 4.0 per cent for FY 
2014/15 is the lowest in 48 years.  The sharper 
than expected decline in inflation for the fiscal 
year was due in part to the fall in oil prices 
but also to the moderation in price increases 
that has resulted from fiscal consolidation and 
economic reforms. 

In April, the Bank of Jamaica announced 
that the rate offered on its benchmark 30-
day Certificate of Deposit will be reduced 
from 5.75 per cent to 5.50 per cent. BOJ 
now expects annual inflation of 5.5% – 7.5% 
over the upcoming 12 months because of 
weak domestic demand and moderated  
energy prices.

The Statistical Institute of Jamaica estimates 
that real GDP further declined 0.4% during 
2014 as drought dampened economic activity 
during the latter half of the year. In light of 
slowing economic growth in the second half 
of 2014, the IMF revised expectations for 
2014/2015 growth in real economic value-
added from 1.1% to 0.4%. However, the IMF 
suggests that lower fuel prices and recovery 
from the drought should push growth in 
2015/2016 marginally beyond previous 
expectations, to 2.1%. Despite slowing 
economic growth, unemployment continues 
to trend downward in Jamaica.

Jamaica
In 2014, Fitch followed Standard and Poor’s 
and Moody’s in upgrading the credit rating 
of Jamaica’s debt based on the stabilization 
since the beginning of the Extended Fund 
Facility (EFF). Jamaica’s macroeconomic 
outlook remains stable as some risks have 
declined. Various international developments 
could benefit Jamaica in 2015, most notably 
the fall in oil prices, which can substantially 
benefit the external situation of Jamaica. 
It should also boost available spending of 
households and reduce production costs for  
Jamaican companies. 

In late March 2015, Jamaica passed its seventh 
IMF review to again draw around US$39 
million on its US$932 million IMF Extended 
Fund Facility (EFF) as of May 1, 2015. Jamaican 
bonds still yield 480 basis points (4.8 percent) 
over comparable US treasury bonds despite 
its downward trend. A continued commitment 
to the EFF should lead to a decrease in that 
spread, which would compensate for higher 
benchmark interest rates. 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Consolidated net profit for the financial year 
ended March 31, 2015 excluding profits 
attributable to non-controlling interests, 
amounted to US$5.37 million, an increase of 
41.6% when compared to the same period 
last year. This profit includes net extraordinary 
gains of US$1.56 million realized from purchase 
of First Global Financial Services Limited for 
US$4.24 million (after one-off loss on the sale 
of securities and extraordinary expenses of 
US$2.68 million). With these items excluded 
from the results, net profit for the financial 
year represented an increase of 11% over the 
financial year 2013/2014. 

Net Revenue for the nine month period totalled 
US$11.38 million, an increase of 32.1% over 
the financial year ended March 2014, which 
derived mainly from the acquisition of PWLTL 
as well as Access Financial Services Limited 
during the year, and the consolidation of these 
results into PROVEN’s financials .

Carry Trade
Spread income was the major contributor to 
revenue during the period, as the strategy 
performed well.  Net interest income increased 
by 137.7% to US$7.65 million for the year, 
from US$3.22 million for the same period last 
year, while dividend income declined 35.2% 
to US$0.44 million from US$0.68 million for 
the prior year, due to the realignment of the 
Investment portfolio during the year.  

Portfolio Positioning
Net fair value adjustments and realised gains 
from the trading of securities for the financial 
year amounted to US$0.39 million, decreasing 
by 86.9% when compared to US$2.96 million 
for the same period last year. This year’s 
results, however, included a one-off loss on the 
sale of securities from the PWLTL acquisition 
of US$2.68 million and if excluded from the 
results would have resulted in a 3.7% increase 
in securities trading gains for the year. 

Proven Wealth Limited
Proven Wealth Limited (“PWL”) performed 
well during the financial year contributing 
$829,000 in net profits to the Group.  During 
the final quarter of the financial year, an 
amalgamation was effected which included 
the transfer to PWL of selected assets and 
liabilities, and the investment and equity 
trading operations of PWL Transition 
Limited. As a result, total assets increased to 
US$198.2 million from US$43.2 million as at  
March 31, 2014.  

PWL Transition Limited
The acquisition of First Global Financial 
Services Limited, subsequently renamed PWL 
Transition Limited (“PWLTL”), continues to 
bear significant fruit. PWLTL has contributed 
significantly to Net Profits of the Group, adding 
US$2.85 million for the ten months since the 
acquisition date, excluding the one-off loss on 
the sale of securities. Following the transfer 
of selected assets and liabilities to PWL, total 
assets stood at US$3.7 million as at March 
31, 2015. Going forward the Pension Fund 
Management and Administration business will 
continue to be the major business segment 
for PWLTL.

Access Financial Services Limited
During December 2014, PROVEN acquired 
a 49.27% stake in Access Financial Services 
Limited (“AFS”), making it the largest 
shareholder in the micro-lending company. 
AFS, one of the largest micro-credit entities, 
has contributed considerably to the results of 
the Group since the acquisition, producing 
net profits of US$1.19 million for the quarter 
ended March 31, 2015, an increase of 72% 
when compared to their prior year results. 
The net loan portfolio was US$13.2 million 
as at March 31, 2015, representing a 35% 
increase for the final quarter of the financial 
year, following the acquisition of the loan 
portfolios of AMCL and Appliance Traders 
Limited during the final quarter.

Knutsford Express Limited
During the financial year, PROVEN increased its 
stake in Knutsford Express Limited (“Knutsford 
Express”) to a total of 20% ownership in the 
company, resulting in Knutsford Express 
being classified as an Associated Company 
of PROVEN. Due to the growth in passenger 
travel, Knutsford Express continued to 
generate improved results with an increase 
in revenues of 46.8% over the comparative 
period last year to US$2.90 million for the 
nine months ended February 2015. Profit after 
taxation for the nine-month period grew by 
84.9% to US$0.42 million. 

Asset Management Company Limited
On March 2, 2015, the entire loan portfolio 
of Asset Management Company Limited 
(“AMCL”) was sold to Access Financial 
Services Limited. This has resulted in 
considerable synergies and cost savings across 
the Group. As a result of this sale, AMCL has 
ceased operations as a micro-lender and will 
eventually be wound up.

PROVEN REIT Limited
PROVEN is the majority shareholder in 
PROVEN REIT Limited. The company’s 
residential development on Kingsway Avenue 
in Kingston, Jamaica is progressing, although 
a bit behind schedule, and is now expected to 
be completed by the end of June 2015. The 
sale of units has been advancing as planned 
and units are expected to be fully sold by 
the end of the second quarter of the financial  
year 2015/2016. 
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Net foreign exchange gains decreased by 
81.6%, to US$0.22 million for the financial year, 
as a result of the lower rate of devaluation of 
the Jamaican dollar versus the US dollar during 
the year, when compared with that for last year.

We continue to monitor the investment arena 
and strategically adjust our positioning to 
take advantage of opportunities that fit our 
risk‑reward criteria, diversifying our portfolio 
across fixed income sectors and non-bond 
sources of income with varied risk exposures to 
lower volatility, while enhancing our expected 
risk-adjusted returns. 

Private Equity
Private equity investments that fit our 
risk‑to‑reward objectives continue to be 
a strong area of focus as we explore vast 
opportunities throughout the region. Our 
current private equity holdings continue to 
boost our bottom-line:  
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OPERATING EXPENSES
For the financial year ending March 31, 2015, 
consolidated operating expenses increased 
by 128.0% to US$8.28 million from US$3.63 
million in the year prior, as a result of the 
amalgamation of PWLTL and AFS in the Group’s 
results. As a result the Efficiency Ratio, including 
all income and expense items, increased to 
62.2% compared to 53.4% for the same period 
last year. Over the coming quarters, expense 
management and consolidation will be a key 
focus of management, as we seek to get the 
efficiency ratio closer to the 50% target.

NET PROFIT
Net Profit attributable to shareholders totalled 
US$5.37 million or 1.51 cents per share versus 
US$3.79 million or 1.28 cents per share in the 
prior year’s results. This represents a Return on 
Average Equity of 12.56% compared to 11.03% 
in the prior year.   

BALANCE SHEET
Total assets amounted to US$364.3 million as 
at March 31, 2015, up from US$148.7 million 
as at March 31, 2014, mainly as a result of the 
acquisition and consolidation of the PWLTL and 
AFS into the results. Total liabilities increased 
to US$310.6 million as at March 31, 2015 from 
US$115.7 million as at March 31, 2014, as 
securities sold under repurchase agreements 
were particularly higher at US$183.8 million 
compared to US$44.1 million as at the end 
of last year. Repurchase agreements from 
PWLTL and PWL accounted for US$162.3 
million of this 2015 year-end balance. Notes 
payable almost doubled to US$103.1 million 
from US$56.3 million for the same period  
last year.

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Shareholders’ Equity attributable to the 
owners of the company increased by 28.6% 
from US$32.9 million as at March 31, 2014 
to US$42.3 million as at March 31, 2015, in 
line with a US$10.3 million increase in Share 
Capital from the Rights Issue in June 2014, as 
well as a 22.8% increase in retained earnings. 
During the year, there was a 69.5% increase 
in the negative Fair Value Reserve to US$4.59 
million, mainly as a result of softening of the 
bond market during the year.

DIVIDEND PAYMENT
The Board of Directors has approved a final 
dividend payment of US$0.0018 per share to 
all ordinary shareholders on record as at June 
11, 2015 to be paid on June 25, 2015.  This 
payment will bring the total dividend for the 
financial year to date to US$0.0091 per share, 
representing an annualized tax-free dividend 
yield of 5.00% based on the average share 
price of US$0.181 for the year ended March 
31, 2015.  

RISK MANAGEMENT
By its nature, PIL’s activities are principally 
related to the use of financial instruments. The 
Company’s activities therefore expose it to a 
variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity 
risk, market risk and other operational risk. 
The aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate 
balance between risk and return and minimise 
potential adverse effects on the Company’s 
financial performance.

PIL’s risk management policies are designed 
to identify and analyse these risks, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to 
monitor the risks and adherence to limits by 
means of reliable and up-to-date information 
systems.

The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible 
for the establishment and oversight of the 
risk management framework. The Board has 
established committees for managing and 
monitoring risks, as follows:
i.	 Investment Management Committee
ii.	 Audit Committee

The Investment Management Committee 
oversees how management monitors 
compliance with the risk management policies 
and procedures and reviews the adequacy of 
the risk management framework in relation to 
the risks faced by the Company.
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Credit Risk - Credit risk is the risk of default 
by an obligor. This risk is managed primarily by 
reviews of the financial status of each obligor. 
Credit risk may be disaggregated into three 
(3) types of risk:
i.	 Default (Counterparty) risk – the possibility 

that the issuer will fail to meet its payment 
obligations or other contractual covenants.  
Technical default may occur due to the 
issuer’s violation of other agreed terms 
(e.g. failure to maintain a certain financial 
ratio at/above a pre-determined level).

ii.	 Credit spread risk – measured by the 
amount of yield differential above the 
return on a benchmark, default-free 
security (e.g. Treasury bills) demanded 
by investors to compensate for buying 
the riskier security.  The risk is that the 
riskier security might offer a lower than 
required premium.

iii.	 Downgrade risk – risk that a bond will be 
reclassified as a riskier security by a credit-
rating agency (e.g. Standard & Poor’s). 
A downgrade in the rating of a security 
usually leads to the fall in its market price.

To mitigate credit risk exposure, the Company:
•	 Seeks to ensure that no credit rating for an 

asset falls below the minimum approved 
rating. Credit ratings are sourced from 
international rating agencies such as S&P, 
Moody’s or CariCRIS, or from internal 
credit research. 

•	 Ensures that the assets are diversified 
across various issuers (e.g. countries, 
corporations) subject to limitations on 
the maximum exposure to any one issuer.

Liquidity Risk - Liquidity risk is the risk that 
the Company will encounter difficulty in 
meeting obligations from its financial liabilities. 
Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell 
a financial asset quickly at, or close to, its fair 
value. PIL’s approach to managing liquidity is 
to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have 
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when 
due, under both normal or stressed conditions. 
Prudent liquidity risk management procedures 
which are used include maintaining sufficient 
cash and marketable securities, and monitoring 
future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis.

The Company’s liquidity management 
process includes:
i.	 Monitoring future cash flows and liquidity 

on a daily basis. This incorporates an 
assessment of expected cash flows and 
the availability of high-grade collateral 
which could be used to secure funding 
if required;

ii.	 Maintaining a portfolio of highly 
marketable and diverse assets that can 
easily be liquidated as protection against 
any unforeseen interruption to cash flows;

iii.	 Optimising cash returns on investment;

iv.	 Monitoring statement of financial 
position liquidity ratios against internal 
requirements. The most important of 
these is to maintain limits on the ratio of 
net liquid assets to customer liabilities; 
and

v.	 Managing the concentration and profile of 
debt maturities. Monitoring and reporting 
takes the form of cash flow measurement 
and projections for the next day, week 
and month, respectively, as these are key 
periods for liquidity management. The 
starting point for those projections is an 

analysis of the contractual maturity of 
the financial liabilities and the expected 
collection date of the financial assets.

Market Risk - Market risk is the risk that the 
fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes 
in market prices, whether caused by factors 
specific to the individual security or its issuer, 
or factors affecting all securities traded in 
the market. These arise mainly from changes 
in interest rate, foreign currency rate and 
equity prices and will affect the Company’s 
income or the value of its holdings of financial 
instruments. Market risk is monitored by 
the Investment Management Committee 
which carries out extensive research and 
monitors the price movement of financial 
assets on the local and international markets. 
Market risk exposures are measured using  
sensitivity analysis.

i.	 Currency Risk - Foreign currency risk is the 
risk that the market value of, or the cash 
flows from, financial instruments will vary 
because of exchange rate fluctuations. 
PIL is exposed to foreign currency risk 
due to fluctuations in exchange rates 
on transactions and balances that are 
denominated in currencies other than the 
functional currency. The main currencies 
giving rise to this risk are the Jamaican 
dollar (JA$), Euro (€) and Trinidad and 
Tobago (TT$). The Company manages 
this risk by matching foreign currency 
assets with foreign currency liabilities, 
to the extent practicable. The net 
foreign currency exposure is kept to 
the targeted levels by buying or selling 
currencies at spot rates when necessary to  
address imbalances.

ii.	 Interest Rate Risk - Interest rate risk is the risk that 
the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due 
to changes in market interest rates. PIL manages this 
risk by monitoring interest rates daily. Even though 
there are no formally predetermined gap limits, the 
maturity profile of its financial assets is matched by 
that of its financial liabilities where possible, and 
to the extent judged appropriate; where gaps are 
deliberately arranged, management expects that 
its monitoring will, on a timely basis, identify the 
need to take appropriate action to close a gap if 
it becomes necessary.

Floating rate instruments expose the Company to 
cash flow interest risk, whereas fixed interest rate 
instruments expose the Company to fair value  
interest risk.

iii.	 Price risk - Equity price risk arises from equity 
securities held by the Company as part of its 
investment portfolio. Management monitors the 
mix of debt and equity securities in its investment 
portfolio based on market expectations. The 
primary goal of the PIL’s investment strategy is to 
maximise investment returns.

Operational risk: Operational Risk is the 
risk arising from execution of an enterprise’s 
business functions and in particular the risk 
of loss resulting from inadequate or failed 
internal processes, people and systems, or 
from external events such as:
i.	 Internal Fraud - misappropriation of 

assets, tax evasion, intentional mismarking 
of positions, bribery 

ii.	 External Fraud - theft of information, 
hacking damage, third-party theft  
and forgery

iii.	 Employment Practices and Workplace 
Safety - discrimination, workers’ 
compensation, employee health  
and safety

iv.	 Clients, Products, & Business Practice - 
market manipulation, antitrust, improper 
trade, product defects, fiduciary breaches, 
account churning

v.	 Damage to Physical Assets - natural 
disasters, terrorism, vandalism

vi.	 Business Disruption & Systems Failures 
- utility disruptions, software failures, 
hardware failures

vii.	 Execution, Delivery & Process Management 
- data entry errors, accounting errors, 
failed mandatory reporting, negligent 
loss of client assets
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Playing 
Our Part
Corporate & Social 
Responsibility

Top 10 
Shareholders
as at march 31, 2015

Community

39%

Nation Building

43%

Educational

12%
Religious

6%

NAME VOLUME %

PETER BUNTING 30,087,130.00 8.16

NEKIA LIMITED 18,165,838.00 4.93

OZYMANDIAS LIMITED 15,085,706.00 4.09

MARCO MIRET 2,184,146.00 0.59

Marco & Nicole Miret 11,000,000.00 2.98

13,184,146.00 3.57

PELICAN INVESTMENT CO. LTD. 11,568,655.00 3.13

JOHN GREAVES 10,277,822.00 2.79

TAJEBE LIMITED 10,238,097.00 2.78

WINSTON HEPBURN 10,000,000.00 2.71

ALYDAR LIMITED 10,000,000.00 2.71

PAULA K. KERR-JARRETT 8,679,541.00 2.35

PROVEN Investments Limited is a proud 
contributor towards the development of 
our Caribbean people and we will continue 
to extend our hand towards building and 
strengthening our local communities. We hold 
the firm belief that while adding value to the 
investments of our clients and all stakeholders 
of the company, due care should be taken to 
add value to our social environment.

As such, our contributions have expanded 
to the sponsorship of several events across 

the social sector. From educational and religious 
activities, to community development with a 
total spend of US$25,000 for the financial year.  
Our contribution of 14 computers to the Ministry of 
Justice in Jamaica underscores our commitment to 
nation-building, with a focus on the communities in 
which we operate. PROVEN will continue to play our 
part in advancing and supporting the development of 
our Caribbean people and our society at large. 
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Directors’ 
Holdings
as at march 31, 2015

directors at PIL

Connected 
Persons

NAME VOLUME %

YVOR NASSIEF 0.00 0.00

JOHN J. COLLINS 0.00 0.00

RHORY MCNAMARA 0.00 0.00

HUGH CECIL HART * 0.00 0.00

GARFIELD SINCLAIR ** 0.00 0.00

JEFFREY GELLINEAU 0.00 0.00

* Interest in Pelican Investments Co. Ltd. 11,568,655.00 3.13

** Interest in Platoon Limited 4,692,718.00 1.27

Director Wife Minor Children Companies

Hugh Hart 
(Chairman) —— —— 

Hart Muirhead Fatta 
(law firm partnership), 
Pelican Investments 
Company Limited

Jeffrey Gellineau Shelly Wendy 
Gellineau —— ——

John Collins Maureen Collins —— Foreign Market 
Services (Cayman)

Yvor Nassief Nancy Nassief Isabel, Alexander 
& Victoria Nassief 

Archipelago
Trading Company, 
Belfast Estates 
Limited

Rhory McNamara
(Company Secretary)

Holly Hughes 
McNamara

Miles Hughes & 
Hannah Hughes 
McNamara 

McNamara 
Corporate Services 
Inc., McNamara & 
Company (law firm 
partnership), Dorado 
Holdings Limited

Garfield Hugh 
Sinclair Tracey Ann Sinclair Garielle & 

Qtano Sinclair Platoon Limited
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the
audit committee

Charter
OVERVIEW
The Audit and Compliance Committee of 
PROVEN Investments Limited (“PIL”) is 
responsible for assisting the Board of Directors 
of PIL in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities. 
The Committee has adopted this charter to 
promote its effective functioning; our charter 
includes but is not limited to the following:

1. PURPOSE
The purpose of the Audit and Compliance 
Committee of the Board of Directors (the 
“Committee”) is to assist the Board of Directors 
of Proven Investments Limited (hereinafter 
referred to as either “PIL” or “the Company”) 
in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities for:
1.1	The integrity of the Company’s financial 

statements.
1.2	The Company’s policies, programmes 

and procedures to ensure compliance 
with the relevant legal and regulatory 
requirements, the Company’s Code 
of Ethics and Conduct, policies, other 
relevant standards and best practice.

1.3	The Company’s efforts to implement 
legal obligations arising from material 
agreements and undertakings, and

1.4	The qualifications and independence of 
the Company’s external auditors.

1.5	The performance of PIL’s internal audit 
function and its external auditors.

2. MEMBERSHIP
2.1	The committee will consist of at least three and 

no more than nine members of the board of 
directors, a majority of whom will not be officers or 
employees of the company or any of its affiliates.

2.2	The Committee shall be chaired by a member 
who is a non-executive director.

2.3	No members shall participate in any issue in which 
that member has a direct personal financial or 
business interest.

2.4	The members of the Committee and the Chair of 
the Committee shall be appointed annually by the 
Board on the recommendation of the Nomination 
Committee of the Board. Members shall serve at 
the pleasure of the Board and for such term or 
terms as the Board may determine.

2.5	Each committee member will be financially 
literate. At least one member shall be designated 
as the “financial expert” i.e. a qualified accountant 
or shall have significant recent and relevant 
financial experience.

The members of PIL’s audit committee are:
•	 Mr. Jeffrey Gellineau (Chairman) 
•	 Mr. Yvor Nassief
•	 Mr. Garfield Sinclair

3. RESPONSIBILITIES
The Audit and Compliance Committee shall 
have the duty and responsibility to:

3.1	Financial Statements
(1)	 Review significant accounting and 

reporting issues and understand their 
impact on the financial statements. 
These issues include:

(i)	 Complex or unusual transactions and 
highly judgmental areas.

(ii)	 Major issues regarding accounting 
principles and financial statement 
presentations, including any significant 
changes in the Company’s selection or 
application of accounting principles.

(iii)	 The effect of regulatory and 
accounting initiatives, as well as 
off-balance sheet structures, on the 
financial statements of the Company.

(2)	 Review analyses prepared by 
management and/or the external 
auditor setting forth significant 
financial reporting issues and 
judgments made in connection 
with the preparation of the financial 
statements, including analyses of the 
effects of alternative International 
Accounting Standard methods on 
the financial statements.

(3)	 Review with management and 
the external auditors the results of 
the audit, including any difficulties 
encountered. This review will include 
any restrictions on the scope of the 
external auditor’s activities or on 
access to requested information, 
and any significant disagreements 
with management.

(4)	 Review the annual  f inancia l 
statements, and consider whether 
they are complete, consistent with 
information known to committee 
members, and reflect appropriate 
accounting principles.

(5)	 Understand how management 
develops interim financial information, 
and the nature and extent of internal 
and external auditor involvement.

3.2	Internal Control
(1)	 Consider the effectiveness of the 

Company’s internal control system.
(2)	 Understand the scope of internal and 

external auditors’ review of internal 
control over financial reporting, and 
obtain reports on significant findings 
and recommendations, together with 
management’s responses.

3.	 3.3 Internal Audit
(1)	 Review the procedures established for 

the receipt, retention, and treatment 
of complaints received regarding 
accounting, internal accounting 
controls, or auditing matters; and the 
confidential, anonymous submission 
of concerns regarding questionable 
accounting or auditing matters.

(2)	 Review the effectiveness of PIL’s 
internal audit function, including 
compliance with the Institute 
of Internal Auditors’ Standards 
for the Professional Practice of 
Internal Auditing.

(3)	 Meet separately with Internal 
Auditors, to discuss any matters 
that the committee or group 
internal audit believes should be  
discussed privately.

3.4	External Audit
(1)	 Review the external auditors’ 

proposed audit scope and approach, 
including coordination of audit effort 
with internal audit.

(2)	 Review the performance of the 
external auditors, and exercise final 
approval on their appointment or 
discharge. In performing this review, 
the Committee will:

(i)	 At least annually, obtain and review 
a report by the external auditor 
describing: the firm’s internal quality-
control procedures; any material 
issues raised by the most recent 
internal quality-control review, or peer 
review, of the firm, or by any inquiry 
or investigation by governmental or 
professional authorities, within the 
preceding five years, in respect of one 
or more independent audits carried 
out by the firm, and any steps taken 
to deal with any such issues; and (to 
assess the auditor’s independence) 
all relationships between the external 
auditor and the Company.

(ii)	 Take into account the opinions of 
management and internal audit.

(iii)	 Review and evaluate the lead partner 
of the external auditor.

(iv)	 Present its conclusions with respect 
to the external auditor to the Board.

(3)	 Consider the rotation of the lead audit 
partner every five years and other 
audit partners every seven years, 
and consider whether there should be 
regular rotation of the audit firm itself.

(4)	 On a regular basis, meet separately 
with the external auditors to discuss 
any matters that the Committee or 
external auditors believe should be 
discussed privately.
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3.5	Compliance
(1)	 Review the Company’s policies, 

programmes and procedures for 
ensuring compliance with relevant 
legal and regulatory requirements, 
the Company’s Code of Ethics and 
Conduct, policies, other relevant 
standards, best practice and 
legal obligations including those 
imposed by material agreements 
and undertakings.

(2)	 Review annually PIL’s Compliance Plan 
and assess the implementation of the 
plan during the period under review.

(3)	 Review the f indings of  any 
examinations by regulatory agencies, 
and any auditor observations.

(4)	 Review the process for communicating 
the Code of Conduct to the Group’s 
personnel, and for monitoring 
compliance therewith.

(5)	 Review PIL’s compliance r isk 
assessment plan.

(6)	 Investigate or cause to be investigated 
any significant instances of non-
compliance; or potential compliance 
violations that are reported to 
the Committee.

(7)	 To review any legal matters that 
could have a significant impact on 
the Company’s financial statements, 
compliance with applicable laws 
and regulations, as well as inquiries 
received from regulators and 
government agencies.

(8)	 To meet separately with the Head of 
the Finance/Compliance Department 
to discuss compliance matters and to 
receive regular updates on compliance 
matters in relation to the Company’s 
business and to discuss any matters 
that the Committee believes should 
be discussed privately.

3.6	Reporting Responsibilities
(1)	 Report to the board of directors 

about the committee’s activities and 
issues that arise with respect to the 
quality or integrity of the Company’s 
financial statements; the Company’s 
compliance with legal or regulatory 
requirements; its, policies, relevant 
standards and best practice; the 
performance and independence 
of the Company’s external auditors 
and the performance of PIL’s internal  
audit function.

(2)	 Provide an open avenue of 
communication between Internal 
Audit, the external auditors, and 
the Board of Directors and between 
PIL’s and the company’s Compliance 
Functions and the Board of Directors.

(3)	 Review any other reports that relate 
to committee responsibilities.

(4)	 Report to the Board of Directors any 
matter in respect of which it considers 
that action or improvement is needed 
and make recommendations as to the 
steps to be taken.

3.7	Other Responsibilities
(1)	 Discuss with management the 

Company’s major policies with 
respect to risk assessment and 
risk management.

(2)	 Perform other activities related to this 
charter as requested by the board 
of directors.

(3)	 Institute and oversee special 
investigations as needed.

(4)	 Review and assess the adequacy 
of the committee charter annually, 
requesting board approval for 
proposed changes, and ensure 
appropriate disclosure as may be 
required by law or regulation.

(5)	 Conf i rm (annua l l y )  that  a l l 
responsibilities outlined in this charter 
have been carried out.

PROVEN InvestmentS Limited

Fina
ncia
ls2015
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
To the Members of 
PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Proven Investments Limited (“the Company”) 
comprising the separate financial statements of the Company and the consolidated financial 
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”), set out on pages 3 to 66, which 
comprise the consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at March 31, 2015, the 
consolidated and separate statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for 
the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information. 
 
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance as to whether or not the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence relating to the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including 
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity's 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 
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 2 
 
To the Members of  
PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
 
 
Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Group and the Company as at March 31, 2015, and the financial performance and cash flows of 
the Group and the Company for the year then ended, in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.  
 

 
 
KPMG Eastern Caribbean 
 
May 30, 2015 
 
Castries, St. Lucia 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
Year ended March 31, 2015  
 
 
  Group   Company  
  Notes 2015 2014 2015 2014 
   $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
 
Net interest income and other revenue 

Interest income 22 18,632 7,868 6,611 5,192   
Interest expense 22 (10,982) (  4,649) (4,560) (3,337)   

  7,650 3,219 2,051 1,855 
Dividends  440 679 654 1,679    
Fees and commissions  699 206 -     -        
Net fair value adjustments and realised gains 23 387 2,962 1,794 2,457    
Net foreign exchange gains  218 1,185 69 865  
Pension management income    1,443      -         -           -      

Operating revenue, net of interest expense  10,837 8,251 4,568 6,856  
 
Other income       542      366     176      227    

 Total  11,379   8,617 4,744   7,083    

Operating expenses 
Staff costs 24 2,852 1,320 104 100    

 Depreciation and amortisation 12,13 137 76 -     -       
Impairment of loans and other assets 6,7 442        45 350     -       
Property expenses  29 -    -     -      

 Other operating expenses 25   4,824   2,192 2,547 1,864    

Total    8,284   3,633 3,001 1,964   
 
Operating profit    3,095 4,984 1,743 5,119 
 
Preference share dividend 27(f) (  1,456) (    969) (1,456) (     969)    
Gain on acquisition of subsidiary 9(a) 4,241 -    -     -      
Share of profit of associate 10        33      -         -           -      
 
Profit before income tax  5,913 4,015 287 4,150     
Income tax credit/(charge) 26        60 (     235)      11 (      10)     

Profit for the year    5,973   3,780    298 4,140     
 
Other comprehensive income 

Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss: 
 Realised losses/(gains) on available-for-sale securities  977 (  1,234) 988 (1,298)    
 Unrealised (losses)/gains on available-for-sale  
    securities, net of tax  (  2,920) (  1,911) (2,753) (1,244)   
 Deferred tax on unrealised gains on available-for-sale  
    securities  62 201 -     -       
 Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  (     978) (  1,062)     -         -         

Total other comprehensive loss   (  2,859) (  4,006) (1,765) (2,542)    

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year    3,114 (     226) (1,467) 1,598    
 
Profit attributable to: 

Owners of the company  5,365 3,788      
Non-controlling interest       608 (         8)      

Profit for the year    5,973   3,780      
 
Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to: 

Owners of the company  2,506 (     218)      
Non-controlling interests       608 (         8)      

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year    3,114 (     226)      
 
Earnings per stock unit 30      1.51¢      1.28¢       
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
Year ended March 31, 2015  
 
 
      Attributable  
      to 
    Foreign   equity 
   Fair exchange  holders Non 
  Share value translation Retained of the controlling 
  capital reserve reserve earnings group interest Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
  (note 19) (note 20) (note 21) 
 
Balances at March 31, 2013 29,657    236 (1,463)   7,347 35,777     119 35,896 
 
Total comprehensive income for the year 
 Profit for the year       -         -         -       3,788   3,788 (        8)   3,780  
 Other comprehensive income for the year 
 Foreign exchange differences on translation 
   of foreign subsidiary’s financial statements -     -     (1,062) -     (  1,062) -     (  1,062)  
 Realised gains on available-for-sale securities -     (1,234) -     -     (  1,234) -     (  1,234) 
 Unrealised loss on fair value of   
    available-for-sale securities -     (1,911) -     -     (  1,911) -     (  1,911) 
 Deferred tax credit on unrealised loss on  
    available-for-sale securities        -        201     -           -          201      -          201 
 Total other comprehensive loss for the 
    year, net of tax       -     (2,944) (1,062)       -     (  4,006)      -     (  4,006) 

Total comprehensive income for the year       -     (2,944) (1,062)   3,788 (     218) (        8) (     226)   

 
Transactions with owners recorded directly  
   in equity 
 Dividends to equity holders, being total  
   transactions with owners (note 31)       -         -         -     (  2,651) (  2,651)      -     (  2,651)    

 
Balances at March 31, 2014 29,657 (2,708) (2,525)   8,484 32,908     111 33,019 
 
Total comprehensive income for the year 
 Profit for the year       -         -         -       5,365   5,365     608   5,973  
 Other comprehensive income for the year 
 Foreign exchange differences on translation 
   of foreign subsidiary’s financial statements -     -     (   978) -     (     978) -     (     978) 
 Realised losses on available-for-sale securities -     977 -     -     977 -     977 
 Unrealised losses on fair value of   
    available-for-sale securities       -     (2,920)     -           -     (  2,920)      -     (  2,920)  
 Deferred tax credit on unrealised losses       -          62     -           -            62      -            62 
 Total other comprehensive loss for the 
    year, net of tax       -     (1,881) (   978)       -     (  2,859)      -     (  2,859) 

Total comprehensive income for the year       -     (1,881) (   978)   5,365   2,506     608   3,114  
 
Transactions with owners recorded directly  
   in equity 
 Issue of ordinary shares (note 19) 10,323 -     -     -     10,323 -     10,323 
 Dividends to equity holders, being total  
   transactions with owners (note 31)       -         -         -     (  3,429) (  3,429) (    221) (  3,650) 

  10,323     -         -     (  3,429)   6,894 (    221)   6,673 
Change in ownership interest 
 Acquisition of subsidiary with  
    non-controlling interest       -         -         -           -           -     10,958 10,958 
 
Balances at March 31, 2015 39,980 (4,589) (3,503) 10,420 42,308 11,456 53,764 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Company Statement of Changes in Equity 
Year ended March 31, 2015  
 
 
   Fair 
  Share value Retained  
  capital reserve earnings Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
  (note 19) (note 20) 
 
Balances at March 31, 2013 29,657 1,361 11,726 42,744  
 
Total comprehensive income for the year 
 Profit for the year       -         -       4,140   4,140 
 

 Other comprehensive income for the year 
 Unrealised loss on fair value of  
 available-for-sale securities       -     (1,244)     -     (  1,244) 
 Realised gain in fair value of  
    available-for-sale securities       -     (1,298)       -     (  1,298)  

 Total other comprehensive income  
    for the year       -     (2,542)       -     (  2,542)  

Total comprehensive income for the year       -     (2,542)   4,140   1,598 
  

Transactions with owners recorded directly 
 in equity: 
 Dividends to equity holders, being total  
    transactions with owners (note 31)       -         -     (  2,651) (  2,651) 
 
Balances at March 31, 2014 29,657 (1,181) 13,215 41,691 
 
Total comprehensive income for the year 
 Profit for the year       -         -          298      298 
 

 Other comprehensive income for the year 
 Unrealised loss on fair value of  
 available-for-sale securities     -     (2,753)     -     (  2,753) 
 Realised gain in fair value of  
    available-for-sale securities       -        988       -          988 

Total other comprehensive income for the year       -     (1,765)       -     (  1,765)  

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year       -     (1,765)      298 (  1,467) 
 
Transactions with owners recorded directly 
 in equity: 
 Issue of ordinary shares (note 19) 10,323     -         -     10,323 
 Dividends to equity holders (note 31)       -         -     (  3,429) (  3,429) 
 
Balances at March 31, 2015 39,980 (2,946) 10,084 47,118 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended March 31, 2015 
 
 
  Group   Company  
  Notes 2015 2014 2015 2014 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
 
Cash flows from operating activities: 

Profit for the year   5,973 3,780 298 4,140    
 Adjustments for: 

Depreciation  13 111 61 -     -        
Amortisation  26 15 -     -        
Adjustment on revaluation of 
   investment property  -     32 -     -      
Interest income  (18,632) (  7,868) (  6,611) (  5,192)    
Interest expense  10,982 4,649 4,560 3,204    
Loss on disposal of property, plant 
   and equipment  67 -     -     -      
Income from associate  10 (       33) -     -     -      
Gain on purchase of subsidiary  (  4,241) -     -     -      
Unrealised exchange loss on  
   preference shares  (     437) -     (     437) -     
Unrealised foreign exchange gain  (     855) (  1,650) (       69) (  1,011)     
Income tax charge 26 (       60)      235 (       11)        10    

  (  7,099) (     746) (  2,270) 1,151    
 

Change in operating assets and liabilities 
 Investment securities  85,021 (  3,628) (22,411) (  9,470)    

Loans receivable  4,041 (  4,234) 312 (  4,589)    
Other assets  (  3,274) (  2,264) (       43) 112    
Owed by related party  -     -     (  1,112) (       20)   
Other liabilities  2,397 4,365 2,538 (       21)   
Repurchase agreements  (22,370) 12,705 1,056 15,527    
Income tax recoverable  51 3,278 -     -        
Resale agreements  (75,708) 217 -     1,311    
Credit linked notes  -     (  1,573) -     -       
Owed to related party  (     121)        24 (  1,744)   1,673      

  (17,062) 8,144 (23,674) 5,674    
 

Interest received  16,365 7,578 6,376 5,078    
Interest paid  (10,283) (  4,388) (  4,325) (  3,308)    
Income tax paid  (     428) (       32) (         6) (       15)     

 Net cash (used in)/provided by 
     operating activities  (11,408) 11,302 ( 21,629)   7,429  
 

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of  
   cash acquired 9 (25,673) -     (28,169) -     
Acquisition of interest in associate 10 (     913) -     (     913) -     
Development in progress  (  1,033) -     -     -     
Proceeds from sale of investment property  730 -     -     -       
Purchase of property, plant and  
   equipment 13 (       92) (       65) -     -       
Purchase of intangible asset 12 (         5)       -           -           -      

 Net cash used in investing activities  (26,986) (       65) (29,082)       -        
 

Net cash flows from operating and investing  
   activities (carried forward to page 8)  (38,394) 11,237 (50,711)   7,429   
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended March 31, 2015 
 
 
  Group   Company  
  Notes 2015 2014 2015 2014 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
 
 
Cash flows from operating and investing  
   activities (brought forward from page 7)  (38,394) 11,237 (50,711) 7,429     
 
Cash flows from financing activities: 

Proceeds of issue of shares  10,323 -     10,323 -     
Notes payable  38,161 (  7,302) 44,508 (6,544)    
Dividend paid 31 (  3,650) (  2,651) (  3,429) (2,651)     
 Net cash provided by/(used in)  
    financing activities  44,834 (  9,953) 51,402 (9,195)    
 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash  
   equivalents  6,440 1,284 691 (1,766)  
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash 
   and cash equivalents  (       12) (     362) -     -       

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning  
   of year    4,480   3,558      255 2,021       

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  10,908   4,480      946    255    
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
1. Identification 
 

Proven Investments Limited (“the Company”) is incorporated in Saint Lucia under the 
International Business Companies Act.  The Company is domiciled in Saint Lucia, with 
registered office at 20 Micoud Street, Castries, Saint Lucia.   
 
The Company’s shares are listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange. 

 

The primary activities of the Company are the holding of tradable securities for investment 
purposes and holding other investments.  
 
The Company has the following subsidiaries: 

 
 
Subsidiaries  

 Country of 
incorporation Nature of Business 

Percentage ownership  
 2015 2014 

    
 
Proven Wealth Limited 
 

 
Jamaica 

Fund management, investment 
advisory services, and money 
market and equity trading 

 
100 100 

Proven REIT Limited and its  
 wholly-owned subsidiary 

Saint Lucia Real estate investment  85 85 

 Proven Kingsway    
   Limited  

Saint Lucia Real estate investment 100 100 
 

Asset Management Company  
  Limited 

Jamaica Hire purchase financing  100 100 
 

PWL Transition Limited Jamaica Pension funds management 100 - 

Access Financial Services  Jamaica Retail lending 49.27 - 
 

The Company and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as “Group”. 
 
The Group also has an interest in the following associated company: 
 
 
Associated company 

 
 Country of 
incorporation 

 
 
Nature of Business 

 
Percentage ownership  

 2015 2014 
 

Knutsford Express Limited Jamaica Transportation and courier 
services 

20 - 

 

2. Basis of preparation  
 
(a) Statement of compliance 

 

 The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board.  
 
New, revised and amended standards and interpretations that became effective 
during the year 
 
Certain new, revised and amended standards and interpretations came into effect during 
the current financial year.  The Group has adopted those that are relevant, none of which 
had any significant impact on the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
 

New, revised and amended standards and interpretations that are not yet effective 
 

At the date of approval of these financial statements, certain new, revised and amended 
standards and interpretations were in issue but were not yet effective and had not been 
early-adopted by the Group.  The Group has assessed their relevance with respect to its 
operations and has concluded that the following may be relevant:  
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  

 
 

2. Basis of preparation (cont’d) 
 

(a) Statement of compliance (cont’d) 
 
New, revised and amended standards and interpretations that are not yet effective 
(cont’d) 
 
(i) Improvements to IFRS, 2010-2012 and 2011-2013 Cycles, contain amendments to 

certain standards and interpretations and are effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after July 1, 2014. The main amendments applicable to the Group 
are as follows: 

 
 IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, has been amended to clarify that issuing of 

the standard and consequential amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 9 did not 
intend to prevent entities from measuring short-term receivables and payables 
that have no stated interest rate at their invoiced amounts without discounting, 
if the effect of not discounting is immaterial. 

 
 IAS 24, Related Party Disclosures, has been amended to extend the definition 

of ‘related party’ to include a management entity that provides key 
management personnel services to the reporting entity, either directly or 
through a group entity.  For related party transactions that arise when key 
management personnel services are provided to a reporting entity, the reporting 
entity is required to separately disclose the amounts that it has recognized as an 
expense for those services that are provided by a management entity; however, 
it is not required to ‘look through’ the management entity and disclose 
compensation paid by the management entity to the individuals providing the 
key management personnel services. 

 
 IFRS 3, Business Combinations, has been amended to clarify the classification 

and measurement of contingent consideration in a business combination.  
When contingent consideration is a financial instrument, its classification as a 
liability or equity is determined by reference to IAS 32, Financial Instruments: 
Presentation, rather than to any other IFRSs.  Contingent consideration that is 
classified as an asset or a liability is always subsequently measured at fair 
value, with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.  Consequential 
amendments have also been made to IAS 39, Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement, and IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, to prohibit 
contingent consideration from subsequently being measured at amortised cost.  
In addition, IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, 
has amended to exclude provisions related to contingent consideration of an 
acquirer.  IFRS 3 has also been amended to clarify that the standard does not 
apply to the accounting for the formation of all types of joint arrangements in 
IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, i.e. including joint operations in the financial 
statements of the joint arrangements themselves. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  

 
 

2. Basis of preparation (cont’d) 
 

(a) Statement of compliance (cont’d) 
 
(i) Improvements to IFRS, 2010-2012 and 2011-2013 Cycles (cont’d) 

 
 IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and IAS 38, Intangible Assets, have 

been amended to clarify that, at the date of revaluation: 

- the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent with 
the revaluation of the carrying amount of the asset and the accumulated 
depreciation (amortization) is adjusted to equal the difference between 
the gross carrying amount and the carrying amount of the asset after 
taking account of accumulated impairment losses; or 

- the accumulated depreciation (amortisation) is eliminated against the 
gross carrying amount of the asset. 

 
(ii) Improvements to IFRS, 2012-2014 Cycle, contain amendments to certain standards 

and interpretations and are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2016. The main amendments applicable to the Group are as 
follows: 
 
 IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, and IAS 38, Intangible Assets, have 

been amended by the issue of “Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38, 
Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation”, which 
is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, 
as follows:  

- The amendment to IAS 16 explicitly states that revenue-based methods of 
depreciation cannot be used. This is because such methods reflect factors 
other than the consumption of economic benefits embodied in the assets. 

- The amendment to IAS 38 introduces a rebuttable presumption that the use 
of revenue-based amortisation methods is inappropriate for intangible 
assets. 

 
 IAS 27, Separate Financial Statements, has been amended, effective for annual 

reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, by the issue of “Equity 
Method in Separate Financial Statements”.  The amendments allow the use of 
the equity method in separate financial statements, and apply to the accounting 
for subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures. 

 
 IAS 40, Investment Property, has been amended to clarify that an entity should 

assess whether an acquired property is an investment property under IAS 40 
and perform a separate assessment under IFRS 3 to determine whether the 
acquisition of the investment property constitutes a business combination. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
2. Basis of preparation (cont’d) 

 
(a) Statement of compliance (cont’d) 

 

New, revised and amended standards and interpretations that are not yet effective 
(cont’d) 

 

(iii) IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, has been amended, effective for 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, to clarify or state 
the following: 

- specific single disclosures that are not material do not have to be presented 
even if they are the minimum requirement of a standard; 

- the order of notes to the financial statements is not prescribed; 
- line items on the statement of financial position and the statement of profit or 

loss and other comprehensive income (OCI) should be disaggregated if this 
provides helpful information to users.  Line items can be aggregated if they are 
not material; 

- specific criteria are now provided for presenting subtotals on the statement of 
financial position and in the statement of profit or loss and OCI, with additional 
reconciliation requirements for the statement of profit or loss and OCI; 

- the presentation in the statement of OCI of items of OCI arising from joint 
ventures and associates accounted for using the equity method follows the IAS 
1 approach of splitting items that may, or that will never, be reclassified to 
profit or loss. 

 
(iv) IFRS 15, Revenue From Contracts With Customers, effective for annual reporting 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017, replaces IAS 11, Construction 
Contracts, IAS 18, Revenue, IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15, 
Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18, Transfer of Assets from 
Customers, and SIC-31, Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising 
Services. It does not apply to insurance contracts, financial instruments or lease 
contracts, which fall in the scope of other IFRSs. It also does not apply if two 
companies in the same line of business exchange non-monetary assets to facilitate 
sales to other parties.  

The Group will apply a five-step model to determine when to recognise revenue, 
and at what amount. The model specifies that revenue should be recognised when 
(or as) an entity transfers control of goods or services to a customer at the amount 
to which the entity expects to be entitled. Depending on whether certain criteria are 
met, revenue is recognised at a point in time, when control of goods or services is 
transferred to the customer; or over time, in a manner that best reflects the entity’s 
performance. 

There will be new qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements to describe 
the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from 
contracts with customers. 
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 PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
2. Basis of preparation (cont’d) 

 
(a) Statement of compliance (cont’d) 

 

New, revised and amended standards and interpretations that are not yet effective 
(cont’d) 
 
(v) IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which is effective for annual reporting periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2018, replaces the existing guidance in IAS 39 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 includes revised 
guidance on the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities, 
including a new expected credit loss model for calculating impairment of financial 
assets and the new general hedge accounting requirements.  It also carries forward 
the guidance on recognition and derecognition of financial instruments from IAS 
39. Although the permissible measurement bases for financial assets – amortised 
cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value 
though profit or loss (FVTPL) - are similar to IAS 39, the criteria for classification 
into the appropriate measurement category are significantly different.  IFRS 9 
replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit loss’ model, 
which means that a loss event will no longer need to occur before an impairment 
allowance is recognized.   

 
The Group is assessing the impact that the new standards and interpretations, as well as 
the amendments, will, when they become effective, have on its financial statements. 
 

(b) Basis of measurement 
 
 The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the inclusion 

at fair value of available-for-sale securities, financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss and investment property. 
 

(c) Functional and presentation currency 
 
The financial statements are presented in United States dollars (US$), which is the 
functional currency of the Company, unless otherwise indicated.  The financial 
statements of those subsidiaries which have the Jamaica dollar as their functional 
currency, are translated into US$ in the manner set out in note 3(h).   

 
(d) Estimates critical to reported amounts, and judgements made in applying accounting 

policies: 
 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management 
to make estimates, based on assumptions and judgements.  Management also makes 
judgements, other than those involving estimations, in the process of applying the 
accounting policies.  The estimates and judgements affect (1) the reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the reporting date and the 
income and expenses for the year then ended, and (2) the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the next financial year.   

 

The estimates, and the assumptions underlying them, as well as the judgements are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
2. Basis of preparation (cont’d) 

 
(d) Estimates critical to reported amounts, and judgements made in applying accounting 

policies (cont’d) 
 
Estimates that can cause a significant adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the next financial year and judgements that have a significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements, include the following: 
 
(i) Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 
 Allowance for impairment losses 

 
In determining amounts, if any, to be recorded for impairment of financial 
assets, management makes assumptions in assessing whether certain facts and 
circumstances, such as repayment default and adverse economic conditions, are 
indicators that there may be a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 
flows from outstanding balances.  Management also makes estimates of the 
likely estimated future cash flows from balances determined to be impaired, as 
well as the timing of such cash flows. 
 
In determining the total allowance for impairment, management evaluates 
financial assets individually for impairment, based on management’s best 
estimate of the present value of the cash flows that are expected to be received 
from the counterparties.  In estimating these cash flows, management makes 
assumptions about a counterparty’s financial situation and the net realisable 
value of any collateral. 

 
 Fair value of financial instruments 

 
There are no quoted market prices for a significant portion of the Group’s 
financial assets and liabilities.  Accordingly, fair values of several financial 
assets are estimated using prices obtained from a yield curve.  The yield curve 
is, in turn, obtained from a pricing source which estimates the yield curve on 
the basis of indicative prices submitted to it by licensed banks and other 
financial institutions in Jamaica.  There is significant uncertainty inherent in 
this approach; the fair values determined in this way are classified as Level 2 
fair values.  Some other fair values are estimated based on quotes published by 
broker/dealers, and these are also classified as Level 2.  The estimates of fair 
value arrived at from these sources may be significantly different from the 
actual price of the instrument in an actual arm’s length transaction (see notes 5 
and 29). 

 
(ii) Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies 

 
 For the purpose of these financial statements, prepared in accordance with IFRS, 

judgement refers to the informed identification and analysis of reasonable 
alternatives, considering all relevant facts and circumstances, and the well-
reasoned, objective and unbiased choice of the alternative that is most consistent 
with the agreed principles set out in IFRS.   
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  

 
 

2. Basis of preparation (cont’d) 
 

(d) Estimates critical to reported amounts, and judgements made in applying accounting 
policies (cont’d) 

 

(ii) Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

Management is sometimes also required to make critical judgements in applying 
accounting policies.  These include the following judgements: 
 

 Whether the criteria are met for classifying financial assets.  For example, the 
determination of whether a security may be classified as ‘loans and 
receivables’ (note 5) or whether a security’s fair value may be classified as 
‘Level 1’ in the fair value hierarchy (note 29) requires judgement as to whether 
a market is active.   
 

 In designating a security as ‘held-to-maturity’, management judges whether the 
Group has ability to hold the security to maturity. 
 

 In determining whether the Group has control over an investee and should 
therefore consolidate that investee, management considers the percentage of 
the investee’s share capital that it holds and makes judgements about other 
relevant factors affecting control (see note 9). 

 

3. Significant accounting policies 
 

(a) Basis of consolidation: 
 

(i) Business combinations 
 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the 
acquisition date, which is at the date on which control is transferred to the Group. 
Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as 
to obtain benefits from its activities. 
 

 The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as: 
 

 the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus 

 the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquired entity; 
plus  

 if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-
existing interest in the acquired entity; less 

 the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed. 
 

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss. 
 

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of 
pre-existing relationships. Such amounts generally are recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity 
securities, that the Group incurs in connection with a business combination are 
expensed as incurred. 

 

Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition 
date. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

(a) Basis of consolidation(cont’d) 
 
(ii) Subsidiaries 

 
Subsidiaries are all entities controlled by the Group.  The Company controls an 
entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement 
with the entity and has ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
entity.  The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date on which control commences until the date on 
which control ceases. 
 
 

(iii) Non-controlling interests are measured at their proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the acquisition date.  Changes in the 
Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are 
accounted for as equity transactions. 

 
 Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to 

the non-controlling interests, even if doing so causes the non-controlling interest to 
have a deficit balance.  

 
(iv) Loss of control 

 
On the loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the 
subsidiary, any non-controlling interests and the other components of equity related 
to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is recognised 
in profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then 
such interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is lost. 
 

(v) Associates 
 

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not 
control or joint control, over the financial and operating policies.  A joint venture is 
an arrangement in which the Group has joint control, whereby the Group has rights 
to the net assets of the arrangement, rather than rights to its assets and obligations 
for its liabilities.  Interest in associates and joint ventures are accounted for using 
the equity method.  They are recognised initially at cost, which includes transaction 
costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements 
include the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of 
equity-accounted investees, until the date on which significant influence or joint 
control ceases.  
 
When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an associate, the Group’s 
carrying amount is reduced to $Nil and recognition of further losses is 
discontinued, except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive 
obligations, or made payments on behalf of an associate. If the associate 
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of those 
profits only after its share of profits equals the share of losses not recognised. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  

 
 

3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

(a) Basis of consolidation(cont’d) 
 

(vi) Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

 Balances and transactions between companies within the Group, and any unrealised 
gains arising from those transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements.  Unrealised gains arising from transactions between the Group 
and its associate and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 
interest in the associate or joint venture.  Unrealised losses are also eliminated 
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. 

 
(b) Financial instruments – Classification, recognition and de-recognition, and measurement 

 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and 
a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. 
 

(i) Classification of financial instruments 
 

Financial instruments are classified, recognised and measured in accordance with 
the substance of the terms of the contracts as set out herein. 
 
The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories.  
Management determines the appropriate classification of investments at the time of 
purchase, taking account of the purpose for which the investments were purchased. 

 

 Loans and receivables: This comprises securities acquired, loans granted with fixed 
or determinable payments and which are not quoted in an active market. 

 

 Held-to-maturity:  This comprises securities with fixed or determinable payments 
and fixed maturities that the Group has the positive intent and ability to hold to 
maturity. 

 

 Fair value through profit or loss:  This comprises securities that the Group acquires 
for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term, or that it holds as part of 
a portfolio that is managed together for short-term profit or position taking, or that 
it designates as such at the time of acquisition. 

 

 Available-for-sale: The Group’s financial instruments included in this classification 
are securities with prices quoted in an active market or for which the fair values are 
otherwise determinable, and which are designated as such upon acquisition or not 
classified in any of the other categories.   

 

 The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the “other financial 
liabilities” category. 

 
(ii) Recognition and derecognition - non-derivative financial assets and financial 

liabilities 
 
The Group recognises a financial instrument when it becomes a party to the 
contractual terms of the instrument.   
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  

 
 

3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

(b) Financial instruments – Classification, recognition and de-recognition, and measurement 
(cont’d) 

 
(ii) Recognition and derecognition - non-derivative financial assets and financial 

liabilities (cont’d) 
 
The Group initially recognises loans and receivables and debt securities on the 
date when they are originated.  All other financial assets and financial liabilities 
are initially recognised on the trade date.   
 
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash 
flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual 
cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or it neither transfers not retains 
all or substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain 
control over the transferred asset.  Any interest in such derecognised financial 
assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset 
or liability.   

 
The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations 
expire or are discharged or cancelled. 
 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented 
in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group has the 
legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle them on a net basis, 
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

 

(iii) Measurement and gains and losses - Non-derivative financial assets 
 
  Loans and receivables:  On initial recognition these are measured at fair value, plus 

any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, they 
are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less impairment 
losses.  Where securities classified as loans and receivables become quoted in an 
active market, such securities will not be reclassified as available-for-sale 
securities.  An active market is one where quoted prices are readily and regularly 
available from an exchange, dealer, broker or other agency and those prices 
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length 
basis. 

 

  Held-to-maturity: On initial recognition these are measured at fair value, plus any 
directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, they are 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less impairment 
losses.  Any sale or reclassification of a significant amount of held-to-maturity 
investments that are not close to their maturity would result in the reclassification 
of all held-to-maturity investments as available-for-sale, and prevent the Group 
from classifying investment securities as held-to-maturity for the financial year in 
which sale or reclassification occurs and the following two financial years. 

 

  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:  On initial recognition these 
are measured at fair value, with directly attributable transaction costs recognised in 
profit or loss as incurred.   Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss are measured at fair value and changes therein, as well 
as any interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss.   
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  

 
 

3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

(b) Financial instruments – Classification, recognition and de-recognition, and measurement 
(cont’d) 

 
(iii) Measurement and gains and losses - Non-derivative financial assets (cont’d) 

 
 Available-for-sale:  On initial recognition, these are measured at fair value plus any 

directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, they are 
measured at fair value, with unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair 
value treated as follows: 

 
 Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in a foreign 

currency and classified as available-for-sale are analysed between translation 
differences resulting from changes in amortised cost of the security and other 
changes in the carrying amount of the security.  The translation differences are 
recognised in profit or loss.  Changes in the fair value of securities classified 
as available-for-sale are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

 
 When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, and 

therefore derecognised, the fair value adjustments accumulated in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. 

 
(c) Financial instruments - Other 

 
(i) Non-trading derivatives 

 
Derivatives are financial instruments that derive their value from the price of the 
underlying items such as equities, interest rates, foreign exchange or other indices.  
Derivatives enable users to increase, reduce or alter exposure to credit or market 
risk.  The Group makes use of derivatives to manage its own exposure to foreign 
exchange risk. 
 
The Group evaluates financial instruments which it acquires or issues to determine 
whether derivatives are embedded in any of the contracts (making it a “host 
contract”).  The Group accounts for an embedded derivative separately from the 
host contract when (i) the host contract is not itself carried at fair value through 
profit or loss, (ii) the terms of the embedded derivative would meet the definition 
of a derivative if they were contained in a separate contract, and (iii) the economic 
characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the 
economic characteristics and risks of the host contract.  Separated embedded 
derivatives are accounted for depending on their classification, and are presented in 
the statement of financial position together with the host contract.  When an 
embedded derivative cannot be separated from the host contract, the entire contract 
is designated as at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
When a derivative is not held for trading, and is not designated in a qualifying 
hedge relationship, all changes in its fair value are recognised immediately in profit 
or loss as a component of net income from other financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  

 
 

3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

(c) Financial instruments – Other (cont’d) 
 

(ii) Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash comprises cash in hand and demand and call deposits.  Cash equivalents are 
short-term, highly liquid financial assets that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and are 
held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for 
investment or other purposes.  These include certificates of deposit where the 
maturities do not exceed three months from the date of acquisition.   

 
Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost. 

 
(iii) Other assets 

 
Other assets are stated at amortised cost less impairment losses. 

 
(iv) Other liabilities 

 
Other liabilities are stated at amortised cost.   

 
(v) Resale and repurchase agreements 

  
Resale agreements are accounted for as short-term collateralised lending, and 
are classified as loans and receivables.  On initial recognition they are measured 
at fair value.  Subsequent to initial recognition they are carried at amortised 
cost.  The difference between the purchase cost and the resale consideration is 
recognised in profit or loss as interest income using the effective interest 
method. 
 
The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its 
statement of financial position, but retain either all risks and rewards of the 
transferred assets or a portion of them.  If all or substantially all risks and 
rewards are retained, then the transferred assets are not derecognised from the 
statement of financial position. Transfers of assets with retention of all or 
substantially all risks and rewards include, for example, securities lending and 
repurchase transactions.  Repurchase agreements are accounted for as short-
term collateralised borrowing, and are classified as other liabilities.  On initial 
recognition and subsequently, the securities given as collateral are retained in 
the statement of financial position and measured in accordance with their 
original measurement principles.  The proceeds of sale are reported as liabilities 
and are carried at amortised cost.  The difference between the sale consideration 
and the repurchase cost is recognised in profit or loss over the life of each 
agreement as interest expense using the effective interest method. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  

 
 

3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

(c) Financial instruments – Other (cont’d) 
 
(vi) Share capital 
 

 The Group classifies capital instruments as financial liabilities or equity 
instruments in accordance with the substance of the contractual terms of the 
instrument.  In the case of its preference share capital, it is classified as: 

 
(1) equity if it is non-redeemable, or redeemable only at the Group’s option, and 

any dividends are discretionary; in such a case, dividends thereon are 
recognised as distributions within equity;  

 

(2) liability if it is redeemable on a specific date or at the option of the 
stockholders, or if dividends are not discretionary; in such a case dividends 
thereon are recognised as interest in profit or loss. 

 

The Group’s preference shares bear contractual entitlements to dividends that are 
cumulative, and not at the discretion of the directors.  Accordingly, they are 
presented as financial liability. 
 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of an equity instrument are 
deducted from the initial measurement of the equity instruments. 
 

(vii) Loans and notes receivable and other receivables 
  

Loans and notes receivable and other receivables are stated at amortised cost less 
impairment provisions. 

 
(viii) Accounts payable 

 
Accounts payable are stated at their amortised cost. 

 
(ix) Interest-bearing borrowings 

 
Interest-bearing borrowings, other than repos, which are described in [note 3(c)(v)], 
are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost, with 
any difference between cost and redemption being recognised in profit or loss over 
the period of the borrowings on an effective yield basis. 

 

(x) Offsetting 
 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the 
statement of financial position only when the Group has a legal right to set off the 
recognised amounts and it intends to settle on a net basis or to realise the assets and 
settle the liability simultaneously. 

 
(xi) Amortised cost 

 
Amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method.  Premiums, 
discounts and initial transaction costs are included in the carrying amount of the 
related instrument and amortised based on the effective interest rate of the 
instrument. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  

 
 

3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

(d) Property development costs 
 
 Property development costs comprise all costs that are directly attributable to 

development activities or that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to such activities.  
These costs comprise the value of land contributed to the development; direct costs 
related to property development activities; and indirect costs that are attributable to the 
development activities and can be allocated to the project. 

 

  The property development is being undertaken under the terms of a joint operation.  The 
Group, as one of the two joint operators, recognises in its financial statements the assets it 
contributes to, and the liabilities it incurs on behalf of, the joint operation, with those 
assets and liabilities being accounted for in accordance with relevant IFRS.  A gain or 
loss is recognised on any asset sold or contributed to the joint operation to the extent of 
the other party’s interest in the joint operation (in this case 50%). 
 

(e) Investment property 
 

Investment properties, comprising principally land and buildings, are held for long-term 
rental yields and capital appreciation and are treated as long-term investments. They are 
measured initially at cost, including related transaction costs and are subsequently carried 
at fair value. 
 

Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in 
the nature, location or condition of the specific asset. The fair value of investment 
property reflects, among other things, rental income from current leases and assumptions 
about rental income from future leases in light of current market conditions. The fair 
value also reflects, on a similar basis, any cash outflows that could be expected in respect 
of the property.  Fair value is determined every three years by an independent registered 
valuer, and in each of the two intervening years by the directors.  Fair value is based on 
current prices in an active market for similar properties in the same location and 
condition.  Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value is recognised in profit or 
loss. 
 
Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset's carrying amount only when it is probable 
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the company and the 
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are 
charged to income during the financial period in which they are incurred.  

 
(f) Property, plant and equipment 

 

(i) Cost 

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.  Cost includes expenditures that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Purchased software that is integral to the 
functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.  The 
cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in 
the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits 
embodied in the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be reliably measured. 
 
The cost of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment is recognised in 
profit or loss as incurred. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  

 
 

3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

(f) Property, plant and equipment (cont’d) 
 

(ii) Depreciation 

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis at annual 
rates estimated to write down the assets to their residual values over their expected 
useful lives.  The depreciation rates are as follows: 

 
 Computers 25%  

  Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10% 
 Leasehold improvements 10% 
 Motor vehicles 20% 

 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each 
reporting date. 

 
(g) Intangible assets 

 
(i) License  

 

The license is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. As the 
license has an indefinite life, the cost is not amortised but is subject to impairment 
testing, at least annually. 

 
(ii) Computer software 

  
Computer software is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment 
losses.  Amortisation is charged on the straight-line basis at annual rates estimated 
to write down the asset to its residual value over its expected useful life of 7 years 
from the date it is available for use.  

 
(iii) Goodwill 

  
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the Group’s 
interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities of the acquiree.  When the excess is negative (negative goodwill), it is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.  Goodwill is measured at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses and is assessed for impairment annually. 

 
(h) Foreign currency translation 

 
(i) Transactions and balances 
 

Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at 
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in 
the profit or loss.  These rates represent the weighted average rates at which the 
Group trades in foreign currency. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  

 
 

3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

(h) Foreign currency translation (cont’d) 
 
(i) Transactions and balances (cont’d) 

 
Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency 
classified as available-for-sale are analyzed between translation differences 
resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the security and other changes in 
the carrying amount of the security. Translation differences related to changes in 
the amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss, and other changes in the 
carrying amount are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in 
fair value reserve. 

 

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities classified as 
available-for-sale financial assets, are recognised in other comprehensive income 
and presented in the fair value reserve in stockholders’ equity. 
 

(ii) Foreign operations 
 
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into US$ at the spot 
exchange rate at the reporting date.  The income and expenses of the foreign 
operations are translated into US$ at the spot exchange rates at the dates of the 
transactions (for practical purposes an average is used).  Foreign currency differences 
on the translation of foreign operations are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and included in foreign exchange translation reserve. 

 
(i) Income tax 

 
Income tax on the profit or loss for the period comprises current and deferred tax.  
Income tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income, in which case it is recognised in 
other comprehensive income. 

 
(i) Current income tax 

  
  Current income tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the 

period, using tax rates enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to income 
tax payable in respect of previous years. 

 

(ii) Deferred income tax 
 

Deferred income tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the 
amounts used for income tax purposes.  Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates 
that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based 
on laws that have been enacted by the reporting date.   
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  

 
 

3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

(i) Income tax (cont’d) 
 

(ii) Deferred income tax (cont’d) 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised.  Deferred 
tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 
benefit will be realised. 

 
(j) Impairment 

 
  The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to 

determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, 
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting date. An impairment loss is 
recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds 
its recoverable amount.  Impairment losses are recognised in the profit or loss.  Any 
cumulative impairment loss in respect of an available-for-sale investment recognised 
previously in other comprehensive income is transferred to profit or loss. 
 
When a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset has been 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income and there is objective evidence that 
the asset is impaired, the cumulative loss that had been recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss even though the financial asset has 
not been derecognised.  The amount of the cumulative loss that is recognised in profit or 
loss is the difference between the acquisition cost and current fair value less any 
impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss. 

 
(1) Calculation of recoverable amount 
 

The recoverable amount of the Group’s investment securities classified as loans 
and receivables and other receivables is calculated as the present value of expected 
future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate inherent in the 
asset. Receivables with a short duration are not discounted. 

 
The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their fair value less cost to 
sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  
For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the 
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  

 
 

3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 
 

(j) Impairment (cont’d) 
 
(2) Reversals of impairment 
 

An impairment loss in respect of a receivable is reversed if the subsequent increase 
in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognised. 

 
An impairment loss in respect of an investment in an equity instrument classified 
as available for sale is not reversed through profit or loss, but through other 
comprehensive income.  If the fair value of a debt instrument classified as 
available-for-sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment 
loss shall be reversed, with the amount of the reversal recognised in the profit or 
loss. 

 
In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change 
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. 

 
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

 
(k) Investment in subsidiaries 
 
 Investment in subsidiaries is carried at cost, less impairment losses, if any. 

 
(l) Revenue recognition 

 
 Revenue is income that arises in the course of the ordinary activities of the Group.  

Accordingly, revenue comprises interest income, fees and commissions, dividends  and 
income and gains from holding and trading securities. 

 
(i) Interest income 
 
 Interest income is recognised in profit or loss for all interest-earning instruments on 

the accrual basis using the effective interest method.  The effective interest rate is 
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected 
life of the financial asset to its carrying amount.  The effective interest rate is 
established on initial recognition of the financial asset and is not revised 
subsequently.  Interest income includes coupons earned on fixed income 
investments, accretion of discount on treasury bills and other discounted 
instruments, and amortisation of premium on instruments bought at a premium. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
3. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

 
(l) Revenue recognition (cont’d) 

 
(ii) Fee and commission income 
  
 Fee and commission income are recognised on the accrual basis when the service has 

been provided.  Fees and commissions arising from negotiating or participating in the 
negotiation of a transaction for a third party are recognised on completion of the 
underlying transaction.  Portfolio and other management advisory and service fees 
are recognised based on the applicable service contracts, usually on a time-
apportioned basis.  Asset management fees related to investment funds are 
recognised rateably over the period in which the service is provided. Performance 
linked fees or fee components are recognised when the performance criteria are 
fulfilled. 

 
(iii) Dividends 
 
 Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive income is established.  

For quoted securities, this is usually the ex-dividend date. 
 
(iv) Gain or loss on holding and trading securities: 
 
 Gain or loss on securities trading is recognised when the Group becomes a party to 

a contract to dispose of the securities, or, in the case of financial assets measured at 
fair value, upon re-measurement of those assets. 

 
(m) Interest expense 
 
 Interest expense is recognised in profit or loss on the accrual basis using the effective 

interest method.  The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated 
future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability to its carrying 
amount.  The effective interest rate is established on initial recognition of the financial 
liability and not revised subsequently.  Interest expense includes coupons paid on fixed 
rate liabilities and accretion of discount or amortization of premium on instruments 
issued at other than par. 

 
4. Resale agreements 

 
The company purchases government and corporate securities and agrees to resell them at a 
specified date at a specified price.   

 
Resale agreements result in credit exposure, in that the counterparty to the transaction may be 
unable to fulfill its contractual obligations.  At the reporting date, the fair value of the securities 
held as collateral for resale agreements was $82,389,000 (2014: $2,601,000) for the Group and 
$Nil (2014: $ Nil) for the Company. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
5. Investment securities 
 
  Group   Company  
 2015 2014 2015 2014 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Financial assets at fair value through 
   profit or loss 

Quoted equities 42 12 -      -        
Credit linked notes 17,483 18,782 17,483 18,782  
Foreign currency forward contracts      723 (           9)        723      -          

  18,248   18,785   18,206 18,782       
 

Available-for-sale securities 
Government of Jamaica securities 50,596 14,372 1,484 1,556  
Equities - Jamaica 28 492 10 492   
Global equities 298 930 298 930   
Global bonds 61,253 34,392 29,243 25,721  
Treasury bills 6,000 -       -      -        
Mutual funds 19,603 16,843 19,603 16,843    
Corporate bonds 46,513 27,851 45,188 28,993    
Commercial paper     1,904        -             -           -          

  186,195   94,880   95,826 74,535    
Loans and receivables 

Government of Jamaica securities  3,936 1,244 -      -         
Corporate bonds       -                 9       -           -         

     3,936     1,253       -           -          

  208,379 114,918 114,032 93,317    
 
6. Loans receivable 
 
  Group   Company  
 2015 2014 2015 2014 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Margin loans [see (a) below] 6,744 7,880 -     -        
Hire purchase loans 13,264 303 -     -        
Corporate notes 5,750 9,817 9,505 9,817    
Other loans      -       2,312     -         -        

  25,758 20,312 9,505 9,817    
 
(a) Margin loans represent advances made by the Group to facilitate the purchase of securities by 

its clients.  The securities purchased are pledged as collateral for the outstanding advances.  
Certain of these securities have been re-pledged by the Group (see note 16). 
 
At the reporting date, the fair value of the collateral pledged by the clients and re-pledged by 
the Group was $14,890,000 (2014: $16,498,000). 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
6. Loans receivable (cont’d) 
 

(b) Loans receivable, net of allowance for impairment, are due, from the reporting date, as 
follows: 

 
  Group  
  Within 3-12 1-5   
  3 months months years Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

  2015  
  

Margin loans  1,486 5,258 -    6,744 
Hire purchase loans  13,051 213 -    13,264 
Corporate notes       -     2,500 3,250   5,750 

  14,537 7,971 3,250 25,758 
 

  2014  
  

Margin loans  1,323 6,557 -    7,880 
Hire purchase loans  -    303 -    303 
Corporate notes  -    2,371 7,446 9,817 
Other loans  2,312      -          -      2,312 

  3,635   9,231 7,446 20,312 
 

  Company  
  Within 3-12 1-5   
  3 months months years Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
  2015  
  

Corporate notes      -    2,500 7,005 9,505 
 
  2014  
 

Corporate notes      -    2,371 7,446 9,817 
 
 (c) Impairment losses 
 

(i) The aging of loans receivable is as follows: 
 

  Group   Group  
  2015   2014  
  Allowance  Allowance 
  for  for 
 Gross impairment Gross impairment 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

 
Not past due and not impaired 24,858 -    18,691 -     
Less than 90 days past due and  
   not impaired 1,329 429 1,558 -      
More than 90 days past due and  
   impaired 1,422 1,422 80 80   
Interest receivable      -         -           63    -      

  27,609 1,851 20,392   80   
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
6. Loans receivable (cont’d) 
 
 (c) Impairment losses (cont’d): 

 

(ii) The movement on the impairment allowance is as follows: 
 

     Group  
   2015 2014 
   $’000 $’000 
 

Balance at the beginning of the year 80 49   
Impairment losses recognised 92 45   
Acquired through business combination 1,831 -   
Effect of exchange rate movements (   152) (14)  

Balance at the end of the year 1,851  80   

 
7. Other assets 
  
  Group   Company  
 2015 2014 2015 2014 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Withholding tax recoverable 4,436 -    -    -     
Joint operator  1,342 298 -    -       
Due from clients 543 102 -    -       
Interest receivable 3,812 1,545 1,386 1,151   
Other [see (a)]   5,997 3,386     493    100   

  16,130 5,331 1,879 1,251   
Less allowance for impairment [see (b)] (     452) (   107) (   354) (      4) 

  15,678 5,224 1,525 1,247 
 
(a) Included in this amount is $154,000 (2014: $154,000) expended on the planning for the 

possible construction of investment property 
 

(b) Allowance for impairment is made in respect of the following: 
 
  Group   Company  
 2015 2014 2015 2014 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Due from clients 102 107 -    -       
Other  350      -   354     4     

  452 107 354     4     
 

The movement in the allowance for impairment during the year was as follows: 
 
Balance at beginning of year 107 751 4 637  
Write-offs -    (644) -    (633)  
Impairment losses recognized 350 -    350 -     
Effect of exchange rate movements (   5)   -      -      -       

Balance at end of year 452 107 354     4   
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
8. Property development in progress 
 
 The Group is a participant with another party in a joint operation to develop and sell property 

comprising residential apartment units.  Under the terms of the agreement dated March 28, 
2014, the Group will contribute land and undertake certain other activities.  The Group and the 
other joint operator will each share equally in the net profits of the development.  The amount 
of $297,000 represents the Group’s contribution to the joint operation less the other party’s 
interest therein; the other party, in return for its interest in the transferred property, is obligated 
to contribute certain expertise, services and other things.  The value to the Group of this 
obligation is included in other assets.  (Note 11). 

 
     Group  
   2015 2014 
   $’000 $’000 
 

At beginning of year   297 -   
Cost of property transferred    -    297  
Construction costs   1,033    -    

At end of year   1,330 297 
 
9. Investment in subsidiaries 
     Company  
   2015 2014 
   $’000 $’000 
 

Ordinary shares: 
 Proven Wealth Limited   16,567 16,567 
 Proven REIT Limited   491 491 
 Asset Management Company Limited   412 412 
 PWL Transition Limited [see (a) below]   17,529 -     
 Access Financial Services Limited [see (b) below]   10,640       -      

    45,639 17,470 
 

(a) Acquisition of PWL Transition Limited 
 
On May 30, 2014, Proven Investments Limited acquired the entire issued share capital of 
First Global Financial Services Limited.  The acquired company was subsequently 
renamed PWL Transition Limited (“PWLTL”).  The principal activities of PWLTL at 
that date were investment and funds management, pension management, stock broking 
and rental of properties.  Subsequently, on January 2, 2015, an amalgamation was 
effected which included the transfer of selected assets and liabilities and the investment 
fund management and stock broking operations of PWLTL to a fellow subsidiary, Proven 
Wealth Limited (“PWL”).  As a consequence of the transfers, the principal activities of 
PWLTL at the reporting date was the provision of pension management services. 
PWLTL is a licensed securities dealer and is regulated by the Financial Services 
Commission (FSC) under the Pensions (Superannuation Funds and Retirement Schemes) 
Act 2004 and the Securities Act.  The acquisition is expected to provide an enhanced 
level of income, above-average returns, and preservation of capital for shareholders of the 
Company. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
9. Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d) 
 

(a) Acquisition of PWL Transition Limited (cont’d) 
 

Since the date of acquisition, PWLTL has contributed revenue of $13,345,000 and 
attributable post-acquisition loss of $215,000 to the Group’s results in the period to 
March 31, 2015.  The following summarises the fair value of the identifiable assets and 
liabilities recognised by the Group at the date of acquisition. 

 
(i) Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed: 

    $’000 
 

  Cash and cash equivalents   1,378 
  Available-for-sale investments   180,407 
  Other receivables   4,775  
  Investment property   1,157  
  Intangible assets   6,426  
  Property, plant and equipment   122  
  Repurchase agreements    (162,106) 
  Income tax payable   (       647) 
  Notes payable   (    5,886) 
  Deferred tax   (       172) 
  Other liabilities   (    3,684) 

        21,770 
 Consideration transferred: 
 Cash   17,529 

  Gain on acquisition of subsidiary   (    4,241) 
 
(ii) Cash flow on acquisition 
 

Total consideration transferred, per above 17,529 
Less: cash acquired, per above (    1,378) 

Net cash used on acquisition   16,151 
 

(b) Acquisition of Access Financial Services Limited 
 
With effect from December 30, 2014, Proven Investments Limited acquired 49.27% of 
the issued shares of Access Financial Services Limited (“Access”), obtaining control in 
the process. The principal activity of Access is retail lending to the microenterprise sector 
for personal and business purposes.  The acquisition is expected to provide an enhanced 
level of income, above-average returns, and preservation of capital for shareholders of the 
Company. 
 
Since the date of acquisition, Access has contributed revenue of US$2,415,000 and 
attributable post-acquisition profit of $1,234,000 to the Group’s results.   
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
9. Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d) 
 

(b) Acquisition of Access Financial Services Limited (cont’d) 
 

 The following summarises the consideration transferred and the recognised amounts of 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date: 

 
(i) Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
 $'000 
 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,118 
Investments 18 
Loans receivable 16,352 
Intangible assets 52 
Property, plant and equipment 617 
Deferred tax asset 11 
Other assets       138 

 18,306 
 

Notes payable (  2,777) 
Income tax payable (       52) 
Other liabilities (  1,512) 

 (  4,341) 

Total identifiable net assets acquired 13,965 

Less: Non-controlling interest 10,958 

Total acquired interest attributable to shareholders of the parent    3,007 

Consideration paid 10,640 

Purchased goodwill   7,633 

 

(ii) Cash flow on acquisition 
 

Cash consideration 10,640 
Cash acquired (  1,118) 
Net cash outflow arising on the acquisition    9,522 

 
The goodwill is attributable mainly to the value of brands/trademarks and customer 
relationships. 

 
(c) Acquisition costs 

 
The Group incurred acquisition related costs of $169,313 for external legal fees, stamp 
duty and due diligence.  These costs have been included in other operating expenses in 
the Group's statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
10. Interest in associate 
 

On December 1, 2014, the Group’s equity interest in Knutsford Express Limited (“Knutsford”) 
increased from 10% to 20% and Knutsford Express Limited became an associate from that date.  
Knutsford is listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange Junior Market.  Based on its closing price of 
J$10.00 per share at the reporting date, the fair value of the Group’s investment was 
$9,062,000.  No dividends have been received since acquisition of the interest. 
 

  Group   Company  
 2015 2014 2015 2014 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Shares, at cost 913 -     913 -        
Share of post-acquisition profits   33    -         -         -        

  946    -       913    -        
 
The following table summarises the financial information of Knutsford Express Limited as 
included in its financial statements as at and for the nine months ended February 28, 2015, 
showing fair value adjustments on acquisition and differences in accounting policies.  The table 
also reconciles the summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the Group’s 
interest in this material associate. 
 
 2015 2014 
 $'000 $'000 
 
Group’s percentage ownership interest 20.00%    -     
 
Non-current assets 1,543 -    
Current assets  709 -    
Non-current liabilities  (   115) -    
Current liabilities  (   318)    -     

Net assets of Knutsford (100%)  1,819    -     
 
Group’s share of net assets (20%)   364 -    
Goodwill and other intangible assets       582    -     
 
Carrying amount of interest in associate      946    -     
 
Revenue    2,888    -     

Net profit, being total comprehensive income for the period (100%)    420    -     

Group’s share of total comprehensive income (20%)       84    -     
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
11. Investment property 
 
 2015 2014 
 $'000 $'000 

 
At beginning of year -    695  
Acquisition through business combination 1,157 -   
Disposal (   730) -    
Fair value adjustment -    (  32)  
Foreign exchange translation adjustment (     13) (  68)  

 414 595  
Transfer to joint operator (note 7) -    (298)  
Transfer to property development in progress (note 8)    -     (297)  

At end of year    414    -    
 

The company's land and buildings were last revalued during December 2013 by independent 
valuators, DC Tavares Finson Realty Company Limited and NAI Jamaica Langford and 
Brown. The valuations were done on the basis of open market value.  The fair value of the 
investment property is categorised into Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. 
 
 

Valuation technique Significant unobservable 
inputs 

Inter-relationship between 
key unobservable inputs and 
fair value measurement 

Market approach.  This model 
takes into account: 

 The fact that the intention is 
to dispose of the property in 
an open market transaction. 

 The expected sale would take 
place on the basis of a 
willing seller and willing 
buyer. 

 A reasonable period in which 
to negotiate a sale, taking 
into account the nature of the 
property and state of the 
market. 

 Values are expected to 
remain stable throughout the 
period of market exposure 
and disposal by of sale 
(hypothetical). 

 The property will be freely 
exposed to the market; and 

 The potential rental value of 
the property in the current 
investment climate. 

 

 Judgements about whether the 
property can be sold, 
exchanged, transferred, let, 
mortgaged or used for any 
other economic activity, 
within its use class. 

 The strength of demand for 
the property, given its 
condition, location and range 
of potential uses. 

 The potential rental value of 
the property in the current 
investment climate. 
 

The estimated fair value would 
increase/(decrease) if:  
 
 The level of current and 

future economic activity in 
the location and the impact 
on the strength of the 
demand is greater/(less) 
than judged. 

 The potential rental 
income from the property 
is greater / (less) than 
judged. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
12. Intangible assets 
  
  Customer Non-complete Trade   Computer 
  relationships agreements name Goodwill License software Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 Cost: 

 March 31, 2013 -     -     -    -    571 61 632 
 Translation adjustment     -         -         -         -     (  56)     1 (       55) 

 March 31, 2014 -         -         -         -     515   62      577 
 Acquisitions through  
    business combination  9,452 1,570 2,269 7,633 -     253 21,177 
 Additions -     -     -     -     -     5 5 
 Translation adjustment     -         -         -         -     (  25) (  10) (       35)  

 March 31, 2015 9,452 1,570 2,269 7,633 490 310 21,724  
 
 Amortisation: 

 March 31, 2013 -     -     -    -      -   30     30 
 Amortisation for the year -     -     -    -    -   15 15 
 Translation adjustment     -         -         -         -       -       2          2 

 March 31, 2014     -         -         -         -       -     47        47 
 Acquisition through business  
    combination -     -     -    -      -   201 201 
 Amortisation for the year -     -     -    -      -   26 26 
 Translation adjustment     -         -         -         -       -   (  10) (       10) 

 March 31, 2015     -         -         -         -       -   264      264  
 
Net book values: 
 March 31, 2015 9,452 1,570 2,269 7,633 490   46 21,460 

 March 31, 2014     -         -          -         -    515   15      530 

 March 31, 2013     -         -          -         -    571   31      602 

 
In view of the relatively short period of time elapsed between the date of acquisition of the 
relevant subsidiary and the reporting date, no testing of goodwill for impairment was 
considered necessary. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
13. Property, plant and equipment 
 
   Group  
   Furniture,   Work 
  Leasehold fixtures and Motor Computer in Art- 
  improvements equipment vehicles equipment progress work Total 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 Cost: 
 March 31, 2013   43 227    9 108 -    -    387 
 Additions 47 4 -    14 -    -    65 
 Disposals -    -    -    (       1) -    -    (       1) 
 Translation adjustment (       3)   29   26      25    -       -         77 

 March 31, 2014 87 260 35 146    -       -    528 
 Acquisitions through business 
    combination  482 636 278 954 10 5 2,365 
 Additions 17 26 -    49 -    -    92 
 Disposals -    (     39) (  93) -    -    -    (   132) 
 Translation adjustment (     10) (       9)    55 (     25)    -       -         11 

 March 31, 2015    576    874 275 1,124    10      5 2,864 
 
 Depreciation: 

 March 31, 2013     8   67     3   61 -    -    139 
 Charge for the year 7 27 5 22 -    -    61 
 Disposals -    -    -    (       1) -    -    (       1) 
 Translation adjustment (       1)   43   27      29    -       -         98 

 March 31, 2014   14 137   35 111    -       -       297 
 Acquisition through business  
    combination  139 388 243 856 -    -    1,626 
 Charge for the year 25 44 13 29 -    -    111 
 Disposals -    (     16) (  49) -    -    -    (     65)  
 Translation adjustment (     11)      61   18 (     34)    -       -         34  

 March 31, 2015    167    614 260    962    -       -    2,003  
 

Net book values: 
 March 31, 2015    409    260    15    162    10      5    861 

 March 31, 2014      73    123    -        35    -       -       231 

 March 31, 2013      35    160     6      47    -       -       248 
 

14. Repurchase agreements 
 

The Group sells Government and corporate securities and agrees to repurchase them on a 
specified date and at a specified price.   

 

  Group   Company  
 2015 2014 2015 2014 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Denominated in Jamaica dollars 75,461 13,114 -     390    
Denominated in United States dollars 108,210 30,823 21,387 19,928    
Denominated in Pounds Sterling        140      138      151       164     

  183,811 44,075 21,538 20,482     
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
15. Owed by subsidiary/owed to related parties 
  
  Group   Company  
 2015 2014 2015 2014 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Owed by subsidiaries     
Current accounts   -     -   1,287    175 
 

Owed to related parties 
Current accounts -   -   99 1,722    
Dividend payable 64 267 64 267    
Accrued management fees 168   86 168      86  

  232 353 331 2,075    
 

16. Notes payable 
  
  Group   Company  
 2015 2014 2015 2014 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Structured notes [See (i)] 55,036 24,634 55,036 24,529    
Equity-linked notes [See (ii) 7,206 10,204 7,206 10,204 
Credit linked notes [See iii) 5,552 -     5,552 -     
Secured investment note [See iv)] 7,158 -     7,158 -     
Margin loans payable [See (v)]   28,170 21,460 18,310 14,021    

 103,122 56,298 93,262 48,754    
 

(i) Structured notes represent short to medium-term debt obligations issued by the Group. 
The notes are secured by a basket of securities and typically have fixed quarterly coupon 
payments, with a bullet payment of principal due at maturity. 

 
(ii) Equity-linked notes are medium-term debt instruments issued by the Group, which pay a 

return that is linked to the Group’s financial performance. These instruments pay a fixed 
quarterly coupon, with an annual bonus interest payment that is linked to the return on 
equity of the Group.  

 

(iii) Credit linked notes (“CLNs”) are structured notes or collateralised debt obligations, 
which are issued by the Group. The performance of the CLNs is contingent on the 
performance of a specified asset, such as a loan, bond or other asset. The credit risk and 
cash flow characteristics resemble those of the underlying asset. CLNs essentially 
transfer the credit risk of the asset specified in the note from the issuer to the investors in 
the notes. 

 
(iv) The secured investment note issued in March 2015, with a tenor of 27 months ending 

June 6, 2017, is secured by the assignment of equity shares held by the Company in 
Access Financial Services Limited and Knutsford Express Limited.  Interest is paid 
quarterly at a fixed rate of 10.5% per annum. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
16. Notes payable (cont’d) 

 
(v) Margin loans payable represent short-term debt facilities provided by brokerage firms to 

the Group and used by the Group to: 
 

 acquire securities on its own account.  The facilities are collateralised by the 
securities held with the brokerage firms, with the proceeds being used by the Group 
to purchase additional securities; 
 

 fund facilities offered to its clients.  The clients have agreed with the Group that the 
securities purchased may be re-pledged or otherwise offered by the Group as 
collateral for the margin facility extended to the Group by the brokerage firm [note 
6(a)].   

 
17. Preference shares 
 
     Group and Company 
 
 J$'000 2015 2014 
 $'000 $'000 
 

Managers’ preference shares [See (a)]          1          1  
 
 8% Cumulative redeemable preference shares  
    [See (b) below and note 19] 
 At beginning of year 976,374 8,910 9,921 
 Effect of exchange rate fluctuation        -      (   437) (1,011) 

 At end of year  976,374 8,473 8,910 

     8,474 8,911 
 
(a) The terms and conditions of the manager’s preference shares include the following: 

 
 (i) the manager’s preference shares shall rank pari passu as between and among 

themselves; 
 
 (ii) each manager’s preference share is entitled to a cumulative annual preference 

dividend in the sum which is equal to: 
 

(1) 25% of the profits and gains of the Company in each financial year in excess 
of the Annual Earnings Hurdle (computed in accordance with the formula set 
out in the terms and conditions of issue) for such financial year, divided by 

 
(2) the number of manager’s preference shares in issue when the said cumulative 

annual preference dividend is paid; and for this purpose the Annual Earnings 
Hurdle shall be the amount which results when the hurdle rate is applied to 
the average equity of the Company during such financial year. 
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17. Preference shares (cont’d) 
 

(a) The terms and conditions of the manager’s preference shares include the following 
(cont’d): 
 
(iii) Apart from the right to the cumulative annual preference dividend, the manager’s 

preference shares have no economic rights or entitlements save for the right on a 
winding up to the repayment of the capital paid thereon on a pari passu basis with 
the capital paid on the ordinary shares. 

 
(iv) Each manager’s preference share has votes attaching to it that are a multiple of the 

votes attaching to each ordinary share on all resolutions and decisions at a general 
meeting, such that the preference share votes will be at least equal to the votes of 
the ordinary shares, except on any resolution intended to vary the formula for 
computing the dividend payable to the preference shareholders, in which case each 
manager’s preference share is entitled to one vote. 

 
(b) The terms and conditions of the 8% Cumulative redeemable preference shares include the 

following: 
 

(i) The right to a preferential dividend at the agreed annual rate, payable out of the 
profits of the Company, calculated on the capital paid up on the preference stock 
units, and any dividend not paid shall accumulate until paid; 
 

(ii) The right to preferential repayment of paid-up preference capital, and any arrears of 
preference dividend upon the winding up or the Company or other return of capital; 

 
(iii) No right to vote at any general meeting of the Company except where the dividend 

on the preference stock units are past due more than twelve months, and/or the 
notice for the redemption of preference stock units is past due and/or a resolution to 
wind up the company has been passed; 

 
(iv) The Company may redeem all or any of the preference stock units on or before 

December 23, 2016 at J$5.00 each. 
 

The dividend on both classes of preference shares is recorded as interest expense in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 

18. Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 
 

  Group  
  Asset   Liabilities   Net  
 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
 

Deferred tax asset/(liability) is attributable to 
  the following: 

Property, plant and equipment (  26) (  4) -   (  27) (  26) (  31)  
Other receivables (770) (16) -   (101) (770) (117)  
Unrealised foreign exchange gains 242 -   -   (336) 242 (336)  
Investment property (   5) -   -   -   (   5) -   
Available-for-sale investment securities 288 -   -   224 288 224   
Other liabilities 206 24 -   51 206 75  
Tax losses 211 -   -   -   211 -    
Exchange difference on translation    50 -   -     -     50   -    
Other   36   -     -   (    3)   36 (    3)  

 232    4   -   (192) 232 (188)   
 
  Group  
 Balance Recognised Recognised Balance Recognised  Acquired Balance 
 at March  in profit in  at March  in profit Recognised business at March 
 31, 2013 and loss equity 31, 2014 and loss in equity combination 31, 2015 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

 
Property, plant and equipment  (  31) -   -   (  31) (  30) -   35 (  26) 
Other receivables  (107) (  10) -   (117) 29 -   (682) (770) 
Unrealised foreign exchange gains (230) (106) -   (336) 578 -   -   242 
Investment property  -   -   -   -   259 -   (264) (    5) 
Available-for-sale investment 
   securities  25 -   201 226 -   62 -   288 
Other liabilities  119 (  74) -   45 (  67) -   228 206 
Tax losses  -   -   -   -   (306) -   517 211 
Exchange difference on translation   -      -     28   28    -     22   -     50 
Other    16 (  19)   -   (    3)   34   -       5   36 

  (208) (209) 229 (188) 497   84 (161) 232 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
19. Share capital 
 
 2015 2014 
 $’000 $’000 
 
 Authorised: 
  2,999,990,000 Ordinary shares, par value US$0.01 each 29,999,900 29,999,900    
  10,000 Manager’s Preference Shares, par value US$0.01 each            100            100 
  300,000,000 8% Cumulative Redeemable  
 Preference Shares, par value US$0.01 each   3,000,000   3,000,000 

    33,000,000 33,000,000 
 

 2015 2014 2015 2014 
 Units Units $’000 $’000 

 
Issued and fully paid: 
 Ordinary shares 368,689,855 294,951,884 39,980 29,657 
 Manager’s Preference Shares 10,000 10,000 1 1 

  8% Cumulative Redeemable  
  Preference Shares 200,000,000 200,000,000   8,473   8,910 

    48,454 38,568    
 Less: Preference shares reclassified to liability (see note 17)  (  8,474) (  8,911)    

    39,980 29,657    
 
(a) On May 30, 2014, the company issued an additional 73,737,971 ordinary shares at $0.14 

per share for the aggregate increase in ordinary share capital of $10,323,000 (2014: Nil). 
 

(b) The holders of the ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends from time to time, and 
are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. 

 
(c)  The rights and entitlements of the holders of the preference shares are set out in note 17. 

 
20. Fair value reserve 
 

This represents the cumulative net unrealised gains/(losses) in fair value, net of taxation, on the 
revaluation of available-for-sale investment securities, and remains until the securities are 
disposed of or impaired. 

 
21. Foreign exchange translation reserve 
 
 The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation 

of the financial statements of foreign operations as well as from the translation of liabilities that 
hedge the Company’s net investment in foreign operations. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 

22. Net interest income 
 

  Group   Company  
 2015 2014 2015 2014 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

 Interest income: 
 BOJ certificates of deposit 30 -     -     -        
 GOJ benchmark investment notes 4,041 1,098 118 82    
 GOJ investment bonds -    82 -     -        
 GOJ local registered stock 11 2 -     -      
 Hire purchase 103 -     -     -        
 Regional and corporate bonds 3,335 1,702 2,906 1,701    
 Global bonds 3,861 588 2,651 -        
 Resale agreements 3,168 87 45 53    
 Commercial papers 46 3,232   
 Corporate note 888 -     888 3,328    
 Other loans receivable 2,403 253 -     -        
 Credit-linked notes -    25 -     25    
 Other      746    799        3        3    

  18,632 7,868 6,611 5,192    
 Interest expense: 

 Interest on margins 530 723 530 572    
 Repurchase agreements 5,896 1,163 606 291    
 Credit-linked notes -    59 -     -        
 Notes payable 2,864 1,151 2,671 1,348    
 Preference shares 709 764 722 764    
 Other     983    789      31    362    

  10,982 4,649 4,560 3,337    

 Net interest income   7,650 3,219 2,051 1,855    
 

23. Net fair value adjustments and realised gains 
 

  Group   Company  
 2015 2014 2015 2014 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Fair value adjustment for investment property (  48) (    32) -    -   
Fair value gains on fixed income securities (363) 1,573 1,001 1,384 
Fair value gains on equity securities 806 1,387 801 1,039 
Gains/(losses) on currency trading  (    8)      34 (       8)      34   

 387 2,962 1,794 2,457   
 

24. Staff costs 
 

  Group   Company  
 2015 2014 2015 2014 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

 Salaries, wages and related costs 2,329 997 104 100   
 Bonus and ex-gratia payments 68 77 -   -     
 Redundancy costs 42 48 -   -    
 Statutory payroll contributions  119 106 -   -     
 Pension costs - defined contribution plan  54 37 -   -     
 Staff welfare    147      55    -      -     
 Other      93    -      -      -     

  2,852 1,320 104 100   
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 

24. Staff costs (cont’d) 
 
 

Included in staff costs are the following directors' emoluments: 
  Group   Company  
 2015 2014 2015 2014 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

 Fees 140 77 50 52 
 Management remuneration  274 127   -     -    
 

25. Other operating expenses 
 
  Group   Company  
 2015 2014 2015 2014 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

 Audit fees 130 88 43 39    
 Bad debt expense/(recovery), net (151) 82 -    82    
 Irrecoverable GCT 320 193 197 128    
 Insurance 51 27 9 -       
 Legal and other professional fees 557 151 220 68    
 Licenses and permits  244 102 -    -       
 Marketing and advertising 349 209 119 88    
 Miscellaneous 357 219 46 25    
 Management fees (note 27 (c)] 854 689 854 689    
 Irrecoverable income tax withheld  154 32 154 32    
 Office rent 232 81 -    -       
 Commission expenses and fees 59 13 857 694    
 Printing and stationery 133 43 -    -       
 Repairs and maintenance 403 124 -    -       
 Subscriptions and donations 18 13 -    -       
 Travelling 110 43 48 19    
 Utilities 181 83 -    -    
 Other operating expenses    823      -        -         -       

  4,824 2,192 2,547 1,864    
 
26. Taxation 
 

(a) The tax charge for income tax is computed at 1%, 25% and 33⅓% (depending on the 
jurisdiction) of profit for the year as adjusted for tax purposes, and is made up as follows: 

 
  Group   Company  
 2015 2014 2015 2014 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

(i) Current tax charge: 
Charge on current period’s profits: 

  Income tax at 1% 31 10 31 10 
  Income tax at 33⅓% 272 16 -   -    
  Income tax at 25% 190    -     -      -    

   493 26 31 10 
(ii) Deferred tax credit: 

Origination and reversal of  
     temporary differences (497) 209 -   -   

 (iii) Prior year over provision (  56)    -   (  42)    -    

  Total income tax (credit)/charge (  60) 235 ( 11)   10 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015   
 
 
26. Taxation (cont’d) 
 
 (b) Reconciliation of effective tax rate: 
 

The tax rate for two of the subsidiaries is 25% and 33⅓% of profit before income tax 
adjusted for tax purposes, while the tax rate for the Company is 1% of profits.  The actual 
charge for the period is as follows: 

 
  Group   Company  
 2015 2014 2015 2014 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Profit before taxation 5,913 4,015 287 4,150  
 

 Computed “expected” tax expense at 1%  3 40 3 42  
 Computed “expected” tax expense at 25% 356 10 -   -     

Computed “expected” tax expense at 33⅓%    266 294   -       -     

 625 344 3 42 

Difference between profits for financial 
   statements and tax reporting purposes on - 

  Depreciation charge and capital  
   allowances (       2) 4 -   -     

  Income exempt from income tax (     90) (  77) -    -     
  Disallowed expenses 58 48 -    9 
  Tax losses (   248) -    -    -    
  Tax re-mission on subsidiary (   190) -    -    -     
  Other (   213) (  84) (  14) (  41)  
  Actual tax expense (     60)   235 (  11)   10  
 
27. Related party transactions 

 
(a) Definition of related party 
 

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group. 
 
(i) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that 

person: 
 

(1) has control or joint control over the Group; 
 
(2) has significant influence over the Group; or 
 
(3) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of 

the Group. 
 
(ii) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies: 

 
(1) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that 

each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others). 
 
(2) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or 

joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member). 
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27. Related party transactions (cont’d) 
 

(ii) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies (cont’d): 
 

(3) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. 
 
(4) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate 

of the third entity. 
 
(5) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of 

either the Group or an entity related to the Group. 
 
(6) The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled by a person identified in (i). 
 
(7) A person identified in (i)(1) has significant influence over the entity or is a 

member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the 
entity).  

 
  A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between the 

Group and a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged. 
 
(b) Identity of related parties 
 
 The Group has a related party relationship with its subsidiaries and associates and with its 

directors and executive officers and those of its subsidiaries and associates.  
 
(c) The Group has engaged a related party, Proven Management Limited, to provide 

investment management services in relation to financial instruments held in a number of 
funds, and the business and operations of the Group, for a fee. The fee is charged at 2% 
of the Company’s Average Net Asset Value in the financial year. 

 
 Group and Company 
 2015 2014 
 $'000 $'000 
 

 Investment management fees paid for  
    the year 760 603    
 Fees accrued at end of year   94    86     

  854 689    
 

(d) Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly.  
Such persons comprise the directors and executive officers.  Key management 
compensation for the year, included in staff costs (note 24), is as follows: 

 

  Group   Company  
 2015 2014 2015 2014 
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 

Directors’ fees  140 77 50 52 
Management remuneration 274 196   -     -    
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
27. Related party transactions (cont’d) 
 

(e) The statement of financial position includes balances, arising in the ordinary course of 
business, with its related parties, as follows: 

 
  Directors  Directors 
  and key  and key 
 Subsidiary management Subsidiary management 
 2015 2015 2014 2014 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Resale agreements -    161 954 -     
Other receivables -    289 -    190  
Repurchase agreements 151 -    -    182  
Other liabilities      2    -       -        9  

 

 Other amounts with related parties are disclosed in note 15. 
 

(f) The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income includes the following 
income earned from, and expenses incurred in, transactions with related parties: 

 

  Group   Company  
 2015 2014 2015 2014 
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
 

Proven Wealth Limited 
 Interest income    -       -        46   52  
  
Proven Management Limited 
 Dividends paid 1,266 819 1,266 819   
 Dividends accrued at end of year    190 150    190 150   

  1,456 969 1,456 969   

 Management fees    854 689    854 689   
 
28. Financial instruments - risk management 
 

(a) Introduction and overview: 
 

By its nature, the Group’s activities are principally related to the use of financial 
instruments. The Group’s activities therefore expose it to a variety of financial risks: 
credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and other operational risk. Market risk includes 
currency risk, interest rate and price risk. The Group's aim is therefore to achieve an 
appropriate balance between risk and return and minimise potential adverse effects on the 
Group's financial performance. 

 
The Group's risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to 
set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits 
by means of reliable and up-to-date information systems. The Group regularly reviews its 
risk management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, products and 
emerging best practice. 
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28. Financial instruments - risk management (cont’d) 
 

(a) Introduction and overview (cont’d): 
 

The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the establishment and oversight of 
the Group's risk management framework. The Board has established committees for 
managing and monitoring risks, as follows: 
 
(i) Investment Management Committee 
(ii) Audit Committee 
 
The Investment Management Committee oversees how management monitors 
compliance with the Group's risk management policies and procedures and reviews the 
adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group.   
 
The Group accepts investments from customers at both fixed and floating rates and for 
various periods and seeks to earn above average interest margins by investing these funds 
in high quality assets. The Group seeks to increase these margins by consolidating short-
term funds and investing for longer periods at higher rates while maintaining sufficient 
liquidity to meet all claims that might fall due. 

 
The Group also trades in financial instruments where it takes positions to take advantage 
of short-term market movements in bond prices and in foreign exchange and interest 
rates. To manage the associated risks, trading limits are placed on the level of exposure 
that can be taken. 

 
(b) Credit risk: 

 
Credit risk is the risk of default by an obligor.  This risk is managed primarily by reviews 
of the financial status of each obligor. The primary concentration of the Group's credit 
risks relates to investments in government securities. With the exception of investments 
in government securities and government-backed securities, there are no significant 
concentrations of credit risk. 

 
(i) Maximum exposure to credit risk: 

 
The maximum credit exposure, the total amount of loss the Group would suffer if 
every counterparty to the Group’s financial assets were to default at once, is 
represented by the carrying amount of financial assets exposed to credit risk. 
 
The Group manages the credit risk on items exposed to such risk as follows: 
 
 Cash and cash equivalents  
 
 These are held with reputable, regulated financial institutions.  Collateral is not 

required for such accounts as management regards the institutions as strong.  
 
 Resale agreements  
 
 Collateral is held for all resale agreements in amounts that secure the collection 

of both principal and interest to be earned thereon. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
28. Financial instruments - risk management (cont’d) 
 

(b) Credit risk (cont’d): 
 

(i) Maximum exposure to credit risk (cont’d): 
 

 Investment securities 
 

 In relation to its holding of investment securities, the Group manages the level 
of risk it undertakes by investing substantially in short-term Government of 
Jamaica debt securities; such securities are generally unsecured.  Management 
does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations. 

 
 Accounts receivable 
 
 Exposure to credit risk is managed by regular analysis of the ability of the 

customers and other counter parties to meet repayment obligations. 
 
 Loans receivable 
 

The Group’s policy requires that proposed significant loans are approved by 
the Investment Committee prior to disbursement, with the Committee 
thereafter monitoring the performance of the credit. 

 

(ii) Concentration of credit risk: 
 

There is significant concentration of credit risk in that the Group holds significant 
amounts of debt securities issued by Government of Jamaica and Bank of Jamaica.  
There is no other significant concentration of credit risk. 

 
(iii) Impairment: 

 
The financial assets which were considered impaired at the reporting date are set 
out in notes 6 and 7. 

 
During the period, there was no change in the nature of the Group’s exposure to credit 
risk or to the manner in which it measures and manages the risk. 

 
(c) Liquidity risk: 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
from its financial liabilities.  Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell a financial 
asset quickly at, or close to, its fair value. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is 
to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities 
when due under both normal and stressed conditions. Prudent liquidity risk management 
procedures which the Group uses include maintaining sufficient cash and marketable 
securities, and monitoring future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. 
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28. Financial instruments - risk management (cont’d) 
 

(c) Liquidity risk (cont’d) 
 

(i) Liquidity risk management: 
 

The Group's liquidity management process, as carried out within the Group and 
monitored by the Investment Management Committee, includes: 
 

(i) Monitoring future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. This incorporates 
an assessment of expected cash flows and the availability of high grade 
collateral which could be used to secure funding if required; 

 

(ii) Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable and diverse assets that can 
easily be liquidated as protection against any unforeseen interruption to cash 
flows;  

 

(iii) Optimising cash returns on investment; 
 

(iv) Monitoring liquidity ratios against internal and regulatory requirements. The 
most important of these is to maintain limits on the ratio of net liquid assets 
to customer liabilities; and 

 

(v) Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.  Monitoring and 
reporting take the form of cash flow measurement and projections for the 
next day, week and month, respectively, as these are key periods for liquidity 
management.  The starting point for those projections is an analysis of the 
contractual maturity of the financial liabilities and the expected collection 
date of the financial assets. 

 
 

The table below presents the undiscounted cash flows payable (both interest and 
principal cash flows) based on contractual repayment obligations.  The tables also 
reflect the expected maturities of the Group's liabilities at the reporting date. 

 
   Group  

      No 
    366 days  specific Total  
 0-30 31-90 91-365 to Over 5 maturity contractual Carrying 
 days days days 5 years years date outflow amount 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

   2015  
  
 Liabilities 
 Repurchase agreements 133,326 40,728 11,213 13 -     -     185,280 183,811 
 Notes payable 1,317 7,755 50,871 31,011 -     18,714 109,668 103,122 
 Owed to related party  -      -     -     -     -     331 331 331 
 Preference shares -      174 349 10,049 -     -     10,572 8,474 
 Other liabilities    8,841      477       822      -          -       3,978   14,118   14,118 

 Total financial liabilities 143,484 49,134 63,255 41,073      -     23,023 319,969 309,856 
 

   2014  
  
 Liabilities 
 Repurchase agreements 17,164 17,322 4,047 1,411 5,306 -     45,250 44,075 
 Owed to related party  -     -     -     -     -     353 353 353 
 Notes payable 63 6,108 13,570 24,690 815 14,052 59,298 56,298 
 Preference shares -     181 552 10,418 -     12 11,163 8,911 
 Other liabilities      -          -          -          -          -       5,826     5,826     5,826 

 Total financial liabilities 17,227 23,611 18,169 36,519 6,121 20,243 121,890 115,463 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
28. Financial instruments - risk management (cont’d) 
 

(c) Liquidity risk (cont’d) 
 

(i) Liquidity risk management (cont’d): 
 

   Company  
      No 
    366 days  specific Total 
 0-30 31-90 91-365 to Over 5 maturity contractual Carrying 
 days days days 5 years years date outflow amount 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

   2015  
  
 Liabilities 
 Repurchase agreements 2,006 14,860 4,712 -     -     -     21,578 21,538 
 Owed to related party  -     -     -     -     -     331 331 331 
 Notes payable -     3,574 45,602 28,049 -     17,595 94,820 93,262 
 Preference shares -     174 349 9,759 -     -     10,282 8,474 
 Other liabilities      -          -          -          -          -       3,103     3,103     3,103 

 Total financial liabilities 2,006 18,608 50,663 37,808      -     21,029 130,114 126,708 
 

   2014  
  
 Liabilities 
 Repurchase agreements 948 13,599 -     1,408 5,306 -     21,261 20,482 
 Owed to related party  -     -     -     -     -     2,075 2,075 2,075 
 Notes payable -     2,340 7,339 27,076 815 14,052 51,622 48,754 
 Preference shares -     181 552 10,418 -     12 11,163 8,911  
 Other liabilities    -          -          -           -        -          330      330      330  

 Total financial liabilities   948 16,120   7,891 38,902 6,121 16,469 86,451 80,552 
 

(d) Market risk: 
 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, whether caused by factors specific 
to the individual security or its issuer, or factors affecting all securities traded in the 
market. These arise mainly from changes in interest rate, foreign currency rates and 
equity prices and will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial 
instruments.  Market risk is monitored by the Investment Management Committee which 
carries out extensive research and monitors the price movement of financial assets on the 
local and international markets. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity 
analysis. 
 
There has been no major change to the nature of the Group's exposure to market risks or 
the manner in which it measures and manages the risk. 
 
(i) Foreign currency risk: 

 
 Foreign currency risk is the risk that the market value of, or the cash flows from, 

financial instruments will vary because of exchange rate fluctuations.  The Group 
is exposed to foreign currency risk due to fluctuations in exchange rates on 
transactions and balances that are denominated in currencies other than the 
functional currency.  The main currencies giving rise to this risk are the Jamaica 
dollar (J$), and Great Britain Pound (GBP).  The Group manages this risk by 
matching foreign currency assets with foreign currency liabilities, to the extent 
practicable.  The net foreign currency exposure is kept to the targeted levels by 
buying or selling currencies at spot rates when necessary to address imbalances.   
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28. Financial instruments - risk management (cont’d) 

 
(d) Market risk (cont’d): 

 
(i) Foreign currency risk (cont’d): 

 
At the reporting date, exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows: 
 

   Group  
 

   2015  
  J$ GBP Other 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 

 Assets: 
 Cash and cash equivalents  168,083 55 719 
 Resale agreements  8,970 102 -    
 Investment securities  181,609 3,000 -    
 Loans receivable  1,925,249 -    -    
 Due from related party   -    5 
 Other       37,172      65   -     

   2,321,083 3,222 724 
 

 Liabilities 
 Repurchase agreements  8,829 197 -     
 Owed to related parties    12,418 -    -    
 Notes payable  2,514,457 -    -    
 Preference shares  983,645 -    -    
 Other     227,929      -       -    

   3,747,278    197    -    

 Net position  (1,426,195) (3,025) 724 
 

   2014  
 J$ GBP Other 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 Assets: 
 Cash and cash equivalents  27,155 101 17 
 Resale agreements  176,176 -    -      
 Investment securities  226,838 -    329 
 Loans receivable  888,400 -    -     
 Due from related party  -       -    -     
 Other     523,829     36     11  

   1,842,398   137   357  
 

 Liabilities 
 Loans payable       -     -     
 Repurchase agreements  1,475,741 84 -     
 Credit-linked notes  -       -    -     
 Owed to related parties    33,451  -     
 Notes payable  639,242 -    -     
 Preference shares  983,645 -    -      
 Other     115,527       1   -      

   3,247,606     85   -      

 Net position  (1,405,208)     52   357  
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
28. Financial instruments - risk management (cont’d) 
 

(d) Market risk (cont’d): 
 

(i) Foreign currency risk (cont’d): 
 

   Company  

  2015   2014  
 J$ GBP J$ GBP 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 Assets: 
 Cash and cash equivalents 29,332 -    842 100  
 Resale agreements -      -    -     -     
 Loans receivable 430,926 -    635,705 -     
 Investment securities 171,093 3,000 220,838 -     
 Due from related party 145,614 -    17,564 -      
 Other        2,496     -          15,397   -      

     779,461 3,000    890,346 100   

 Liabilities 
 Owed to related parties 12,482 -    33,451 -     
 Notes payable 1,845,250 -    639,242 -     
 Preference shares  983,645 -    983,645 -     
 Repurchase agreement  102 42,469 100  
 Other         2,245      -           4,121     1   

   2,843,622    102 1,702,928 101   

 Net position   (2,064,161) 2,898 (   812,582) (    1)   
 

 Sensitivity to exchange rate movements: 
 

The following indicates the sensitivity to changes in foreign currency exchange 
rates of the Group’s profit and shareholders’ equity.  It is computed by applying a 
reasonably possible change in exchange rates to foreign ecurrency denominated 
monetary assets and liabilities as assessed by management at the reporting date.  
The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain 
constant.   

 
  Group   Company  
 % change in  Effect Effect on Effect Effect on  
 currency on comprehensive on comprehensive 
 rate profit income profit income 
 2015 2015 2015 2015 2015 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
Currency: 

JMD 1% Revaluation (126) -    (182) -     
GBP 1% Revaluation (    1) -    20 -     
Other 1% Revaluation    -       -        -         -      
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28. Financial instruments - risk management (cont’d) 
 

(d) Market risk (cont’d): 
 

(i) Foreign currency risk (cont’d): 
 
  Group   Company  
 % change in  Effect Effect on Effect Effect on  
 currency on comprehensive on comprehensive 
 rate profit income profit income 
 2015 2015 2015 2015 2015 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
Currency: 

JMD 10% Devaluation 1,130 -    1,637 -     
GBP 10% Devaluation 12 -    (   256) -     
Other 10% Devaluation (       1)    -        -         -      

 
  Group   Company  
 % change in  Effect Effect on Effect Effect on  
 currency on comprehensive on comprehensive 
 rate profit income profit income 
 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
Currency: 

JMD 1% Revaluation ( 106) -    (    74) -     
GBP 1% Revaluation -    -    -    -     
Other 1% Revaluation    -       -        -         -      

 
  Group   Company  
 % change in  Effect Effect on Effect Effect on  
 currency on comprehensive on comprehensive 
 rate profit income profit income 
 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 
Currency: 

JMD 15% Devaluation 1,593 6 1,115 3 
GBP 15% Devaluation -    -   -    -     
Other 15% Devaluation    -       -       -         -      

 
(ii) Interest rate risk: 

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
due to changes in market interest rates. The Group manages this risk by monitoring 
interest rates daily. Even though there are no formally predetermined gap limits, 
where possible and to the extent judged appropriate, the maturity profile of its 
financial assets is matched by that of its financial liabilities; where gaps are 
deliberately arranged, management expects that its monitoring will, on a timely 
basis, identify the need to take appropriate action to close a gap if it becomes 
necessary. 

 
Floating rate instruments expose the Group to cash flow interest risk, whereas fixed 
interest rate instruments expose the Group to fair value interest risk. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 

28. Financial instruments - risk management (cont’d) 
 

(d) Market risk (cont’d): 
 

(ii) Interest rate risk (cont’d): 
 

The Group's interest rate risk policy requires it to manage interest rate risk by 
maintaining an appropriate mix of fixed and variable rate instruments. The policy 
also requires it to manage the maturities of interest-earning financial assets and 
interest-bearing financial liabilities.  The Investment Management Committee sets 
limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that may be undertaken, 
which is monitored daily by management and reported monthly to the Investment 
Management Committee. 
 
The table below summarises exposure to interest rate risk. Included in the tables are 
the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities, categorised by the 
earlier of contractual repricing and maturity dates. 

 
   Group  

 
   2015  

      Non 
 0-30 31-90 91-365 366 days Over 5 interest 
 days days days to 5 years years sensitive Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 Assets: 
 Cash and  
    cash equivalents -      -      -      -     -      10,908 10,908  
 Resale  
     agreements 4,695 73,234 77 -     -      -      78,006 
 Investment  
   securities 6,000 131 12,564 62,315 106,914 20,455 208,379 
 Loans receivable 12,278 2,259 7,758 3,250 -      213 25,758  
 Other        -           -           -          535            -        7,430     7,965 

 Total assets   22,973 75,624 20,399 66,100 106,914 39,006 331,016 
 

 Liabilities 
Repurchase  

   agreements 132,291 40,414 11,094 12 -      -      183,811 
 Owed to related  

    parties -      -      -      -     -      232 232 
 Notes payable 64 3,370 46,355 27,830 -      25,503 103,122 
 Preference shares -      -      -      8,473 -      1 8,474 
 Other        -           -           -           -            -      13,222   13,222 

 Total liabilities 132,355 43,784 57,449 36,315       -      38,958 308,861 
 

Interest rate  
     sensitivity gap (109,382) 31,840 (  37,050) 29,785 106,914 (      48)   22,155 

 Cumulative  
   interest rate  
    sensitivity 

      gap (109,382) (77,542) (114,592) (84,807)   22,107 22,155  
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 

28. Financial instruments - risk management (cont’d) 
 

(d) Market risk (cont’d): 
 

(ii) Interest rate risk (cont’d): 
 

   Group  
   2014  

      Non 
 0-30 31-90 91-365 366 days Over 5 interest 
 days days days to 5 years years sensitive Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 Assets: 
 Cash and  
    cash equivalents -      -      -      -     -      4,480 4,480 
 Resale  
     agreements 2,083 -      215 -     -      -      2,298 
 Investment  
   securities -      -      453 6,768 65,953 41,744 114,918 
 Loans receivable 151 1,602 10,037 8,522 -      -      20,312 
  
 Other      -           -           -           -           -        3,643     3,643 

 Total assets   2,234   1,602 10,705 15,290 65,953 49,867 145,651 
 

 Liabilities 
Repurchase  

   agreements 17,708 16,663 3,711 1,303 4,690 -      44,075 
 Owed to related  
    parties -      -      -      -      -      353 353 
 Notes payable -      2,154 6,781 25,883 8 21,472 56,298 
 Preference shares -      -      -        8,910 -        1     8,911 
 Other      -           -           -           -           -        5,826     5,826 

 Total liabilities 17,708 18,817 10,492 36,096   4,698 27,652 115,463 
 

Interest rate  
     sensitivity gap (15,474) (17,215)     213 (20,806) 61,255 22,215   30,188 

 Cumulative  
   interest rate  
    sensitivity 

      gap (15,474) (32,689) (32,476) (53,282)   7,973 30,188        -       
 

   Company  
 

   2015  
      Non  
 0-30 31-90 91-365 366 days Over 5 interest  
 days days days to 5 years years sensitive Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

 Assets: 
 Cash and bank -      -      -      -      -      946 946 
 Investment  
   securities -      -      5,612 41,106 46,919 20,395 114,032 
 Loans receivable -      -      2,500 7,005 -      -      9,505 
 Other assets -      -      -      -      -      1,525 1,525 
 Due from related  
    party       -           -           -           -           -        1,287     1,287 

 Total assets      -           -        8,112 48,111 46,919 24,153 127,295 
 

 Liabilities 
 Repurchase 
    agreements 2,001 14,845 4,692 -      -      -      21,538 
 Owed to related 
    parties -      -      -      -      331 -      331 
 Preference shares -      -      -      8,473 -      1 8,474 
 Other liabilities -      -      -      -      -      3,103 3,103 
 Notes payable      -        3,370 45,132 27,165      -      17,595   93,262 

 Total liabilities   2,001 18,215 49,824 35,638      331 20,699 126,708 
 Total interest rate 
     sensitivity gap (  2,001) (18,215) (41,712) 12,473 46,588   3,454        587 

 Cumulative  
   interest rate 
    sensitivity 

       gap (  2,001) (20,216) (61,928) (49,455) (  2,867)      587       -        
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 

28. Financial instruments - risk management (cont’d) 
 

(d) Market risk (cont’d): 
 

(ii) Interest rate risk (cont’d): 
 

   Company  
   2014  

      Non 
 0-30 31-90 91-365 366 days Over 5 interest 
 days days days to 5 years years sensitive Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

  
 Assets: 
 Cash and bank -      -      -      -     -      255 255 
 Investment  
   securities -      -      -      20,306 52,964 20,047 93,317 
 Loans receivable -      -      2,371 7,446 -      -      9,817 
 Other assets -      -      -      -     -      1,247 1,247 
 Due from related  
    party       -           -           -           -           -           175        175 

 Total assets      -           -        2,371 27,752 52,964 21,724 104,811 
 

 Liabilities 
 Repurchase 
    agreements 945 13,545 -      1,300 4,692 -      20,482 
 Owed to related  
    parties -      -      -      -      -      2,075 2,075 
 Preference shares -      -      -      8,910 -      1 8,911 
 Other liabilities -      -      -      -      -      330 330 
 Notes payable      -        2,154   6,685 25,882      -      14,033 48,754 

 Total liabilities      945 15,699   6,685 36,092   4,692 16,439 80,552 
 Total interest rate 
     sensitivity gap (    945) (15,699) (  4,314) (  8,340) 48,272   5,285 24,259 

 Cumulative  
   interest rate 
    sensitivity 

       gap (    945) (16,644) (20,958) (29,298) 18,974 24,259      -       
 

The table below summarises the effective interest rate by major currencies for 
financial instruments at the reporting date. 

 
  Group   Company  

   2015   2015  
 J$ US$ GBP Euro J$ US$ GBP Euro 
 % % % % % % % % 
 

Assets 
  Resale agreements  4.90 3.13 2.25 -    -    -    -    -    
  Investment securities  7.04 6.71 13.50 -    7.01 6.45 13.50 -    
  Loans receivable 7.00 2.34 -    -    7.00 3.00 -    -    

 
Liabilities 

  Repurchase agreements 5.96 1.87 13.14 -    -    2.00 2.25 -    
 Notes payable  4.93 3.44 -    -    4.52 3.58 -    -    
 Preference shares 8.00    -        -       -    8.00    -        -       -     

 
  Group   Company  

   2014   2014  
 J$ US$ GBP Euro J$ US$ GBP Euro 
 % % % % % % % % 
 

Assets 
  Resale agreements  4.84 4.62 1.80 -    -    -    -    -     
  Investment securities  7.12 5.34 -    6.83 7.01 6.44 -    -     
  Loans receivable 6.31 2.92 1.45 -    10.05 6.38 -    -     

 
Liabilities 

  Repurchase agreements 6.82 3.70 1.95 -    10.93 2.00 2.25 -    
 Notes payable  5.38 3.43 -    -    5.38 3.43 -    -     
 Preference shares 8.00    -       -       -      8.00    -       -       -     
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March 31, 2015  
 
 
28. Financial instruments - risk management (cont’d) 
 

(d) Market risk (cont’d): 
 

(ii) Interest rate risk (cont’d): 
 

Sensitivity to interest rate movements 
 

The following table indicates the sensitivity to interest rate movements at the 
reporting date, on the Group's profit or loss and shareholders' equity.  The analysis 
assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain 
constant.   

 

   Group  

   2015   2014  
 

J$ interest rates Increase by 250 bps Increase by 250 bps 
 Decrease by 100 bps Decrease by 100 bps 
 
US$ interest rates Increase by 200 bps Increase by 200 bps 
 Decrease by 50 bps Decrease by 50 bps 

 
   2015   2014  

 Effect on Effect on Effect on Effect on 
 profit equity profit equity 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 

Direction of change in basis points: 
Increase in interest rates (361) (5,604) (753) (16,805)  
Decrease in interest rates   70 1,174 178   1,175   

 
   Company  

   2015   2014  
 

US$ interest rates Increase by 200 bps Increase by 200 bps 
 Decrease by 50 bps Decrease by 50 bps 

 

 Effect on Effect on Effect on Effect on 
 profit equity profit equity 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 

Direction of change in basis points: 
Increase in interest rates -   (5,551) -   (4,396) 
Decrease in interest rates   -   1,164   -   2,609 

 

(iii) Price risk: 
 

 Equity price risk arises from equity securities held by the Group as part of its 
investment portfolio.  Management monitors the mix of debt and equity securities 
in its investment portfolio based on market expectations.  The primary goal of the 
Group’s investment strategy is to maximise investment returns.  
 

The Group’s exposure to price risk is represented by the total carrying value of 
equity investments on the statement of financial position of $19,912,000 (2014: 
$1,422,012) for the Group and $19,852,000 (2014: $1,422,000) for the Company. 

 

Sensitivity to equity price movements 
 

A 10% increase in stock prices at March 31, 2015 would have increased other 
comprehensive income by $1,991,200 (2014: $142,200) for the Group and 
$1,985,200 (2014: $1,573,000) for the Company; an equal change in the opposite 
direction would have decreased profit by an equal amount.   
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
28. Financial instruments - risk management (cont’d) 
 

(e) Capital management: 
 

The Group's objectives when managing capital, as it applies to the regulated subsidiary, 
are as follows:  
 
(i) To comply with the capital requirements set by the Financial Services Commission 

(“the Commission”); 
 

(ii) To safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern so that it can 
continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and 

 

(iii) To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.   
 

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored daily by the Group's 
management, employing techniques based on the guidelines developed by the 
Commission. The required information is filed with the Commission on a monthly basis. 

 

The Commission requires each securities dealer to: 
 
(i) Hold the level of the regulatory capital at no less than 50% of Tier 1 Capital; and 
 

(ii) Maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to the risk-weighted assets at or above 
10%.   

 
The subsidiary's regulatory capital is managed by its compliance officer and is divided 
into two tiers: 
 

(i) Tier 1 capital: issued and fully paid-up capital in the form of ordinary shares, 
retained earnings and reserves; and 

 

(ii) Tier 2 capital: redeemable cumulative preference shares. 
 

The risk-weighted assets are measured by means of stipulated weights applied to the risk-
based assets and other risk exposures as determined by the Commission.  
 

The table below summarises the composition of regulatory capital and the ratios of the 
Company’s subsidiaries that are regulated by the Commission.  These ratios were in 
compliance with the requirements of the Commission throughout the year under review: 
 

 Proven Wealth Limited PWL Transition Limited 
 2015 2014 2015  
 $’000 $’000   

 

Tier 1 capital: 
Ordinary shares 779 779 8,396  
Retained earnings and reserves   18,729   6,783 (6,050)  

Total qualifying tier 1 capital   19,508   7,562 2,346  
 

Tier 2 capital: 
 

Redeemable preference shares, being  
   total qualifying tier 2 capital        390      390     -     

Total regulatory capital   19,898   7,952 2,346  
 
Total risk-weighted assets 112,562 36,892     -     
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
28. Financial instruments - risk management (cont’d) 

 

(e) Capital management (cont’d): 
 

The FSC requires the subsidiaries to 
 maintain certain specific ratios, 
 as follows: 
 

 2015 2014 2015 
 
(i) Tier 1 capital to total regulatory  

  capital: 
Minimum required 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 
Actual 99.00% 96.00% 100.00% 

 
(ii) Regulatory capital to total assets: 

Minimum required 6.00% 6.00% 6.00% 
Actual 10.00% 17.00% 74.99% 

 
(iii) Regulatory capital to risk-weighted 

  assets: 
Minimum required 10.00% 10.00% 10.00% 
Actual 17.67% 20.77%   74.99% 

 
29. Financial instruments – fair values 

 

(a) Definition and measurement of fair values 
 

 The Group’s accounting policies on measurement and disclosure require the 
measurement of fair values for financial assets and financial liabilities.  Fair value is the 
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 

 

 When measuring fair value of an asset or liability, where a quoted market price is 
available, fair value is computed by the Group using the quoted bid price at the reporting 
date, without any deduction for transaction costs or other adjustments.  Where a quoted 
market price is not available, fair value is computed using alternative techniques, making 
use of available input data; the Group uses observable data as far as possible.  Fair values 
are categorised into different levels in a three-level fair value hierarchy, based on the 
degree to which the inputs used in the valuation techniques are observable.  The different 
levels in the hierarchy have been defined as follows: 

 

 Level 1 refers to financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured by reference to 
published quotes in an active market. A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an 
active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, 
dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or regulatory agency and those prices 
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm's length basis. 

 
 Level 2 refers to financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured using a 

valuation technique based on assumptions that are supported by prices from observable 
current market transactions, and for which pricing is obtained via pricing services, but 
where prices have not been determined in an active market. This includes financial assets 
with fair values based on broker quotes, investments in funds with fair values obtained 
via fund managers, and assets that are valued using a model whereby the majority of 
assumptions are market observable. 
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 

29. Financial instruments – fair values (cont’d) 
 

(a) Definition and measurement of fair values (cont’d) 
 
 Level 3 refers to financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured using non-

market observable inputs. This means that fair values are determined in whole or in part 
using a valuation technique (model) based on assumptions that are neither supported by 
prices from observable current market transactions in the same instrument nor are they 
based on available market data. 

(b) Valuation techniques for investment securities classified as Level 2 
 

Type Valuation techniques 
Foreign currency forward contracts  Obtain last traded price of the forward on 

the date of valuation, provided by the 
recognized broker/dealer through which the 
forward contract is obtained. 

 Apply price to estimate fair value. 

Government of Jamaica securities:  
 US$ denominated Securities  Obtain bid price provided by a recognized 

independent source, namely, Bloomberg. 

 Apply price to estimate fair value. 

 J$ Denominated Securities  Obtain bid price provided by a recognized 
source (which uses Jamaica-market source 
indicative bid). 

 Apply price to estimate fair value. 

Global bonds  Obtained bid price provided by recognized 
independent pricing source, namely, 
Bloomberg. 

 Apply price to estimate fair value. 

Mutual funds  Obtain prices quoted by unit trust managers. 

 Apply price to estimate fair value. 

Corporate bonds  Obtained bid price provided by recognized 
independent pricing source, namely, 
Bloomberg. 

 Apply price to estimate fair value. 

Credit-linked notes  Obtain price based on the quoted price of the 
underlying credit default swap which is 
derived from Bloomberg on the valuation 
date, plus the valuation of the underlying 
note. 

 Apply price to estimate fair value. 

  
 
 
 
 

 

 

PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
29. Financial instruments – fair values (cont’d) 
 

(c) Accounting classifications and fair values: 
 

 The following table shows the classification of financial assets and financial liabilities and their carrying amounts. 
 

Where the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value, their levels in the fair value hierarchy are also 
shown.  Where the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities are not measured at fair value, and those carrying amounts are a 
reasonable approximation of fair value, fair value information (including amounts, and levels in the fair value hierarchy) is not disclosed.     

  Group  

  2015  

   Carrying amount   Fair value  
     Fair value  
     through Other 
   Loan and Available   profit financial 
  Notes receivables for sale   or loss liabilities Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial assets measured  
   at fair value: 
 Quoted equities 5 -      367 1 -      368 368 -     -      368 
 Foreign currency forward 5 -      -      723 -      723 -    723 -      723 
 Government of Jamaica securities 5 -      50,596 -     -      50,596 -    50,596 -      50,596 
 Mutual funds  -      19,603 -     -      19,603 -    19,603 -      19,603 
 Global bonds 5 -      61,253 -     -      61,253 -    61,253 -      61,253 
 Mutual funds 5 -      1,904 -     -      1,904 -    1,904 -      1,904 
 Corporate bonds 5 -      46,513 -     -      46,513 -    46,513 -      46,513 
 Credit link notes 5 -      -      17,483 -      17,483 -    17,483 -      17,483 
 Treasury bills         -          6,000       -            -          6,000     -        6,000        -          6,000 

          -      186,236 18,207        -      204,443   368 204,075        -      204,443 
Financial assets not measured 
   at fair value: 
 Global bonds  3,936 -      -     -      3,936     
 Resale agreements   4 78,157 -      -     -      78,157     
 Loans receivable 6 25,758 -      -     -      25,758     
 Cash and cash equivalents  6,816 -      -     -      6,816     
 Owed by related party  10,908 -      -     -      10,908     
 Other assets 7     1,287        -           -            -          1,287     

   126,862        -           -            -      126,862     
 

Financial liabilities not measured 
   at fair value: 
 Other liabilities  -      -               14,118   14,118    
 Notes payable   16 -      -     -      103,122 103,122    
 Repurchase agreements  14 -      -     -      183,811 183,811      
 Owed to related party 15        -           -            -             232        232    

          -           -            -      301,283 301,283    
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
29. Financial instruments – fair values (cont’d) 
 

(c) Accounting classifications and fair values (cont’d): 
 

  2014  

   Carrying amount   Fair value  
     Fair value  
     through Other 
   Loan and Available   profit financial 
  Notes receivables for sale   or loss liabilities Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 

Financial assets measured  
   at fair value: 
 Quoted equities 5 -     1,422 12 -      1,434 1,434 -      -     1,434 
 Foreign currency forward 5 -     -      (       9) -      (           9) -    (           9) -     (            9) 
 Government of Jamaica securities 5 -     14,372 -     -      14,372 -    14,372 -     14,372 
 Global bonds 5 -     34,392 -     -      34,392 -    34,392 -     34,392 
 Mutual funds 5 -     16,843 -     -      16,843 -    16,843 -     16,843 
 Corporate bonds 5       -       27,851 -     -        27,851 -      27,851 -       27,851 
 Credit link notes 5       -            -      18,782        -        18,782     -      18,782       -       18,782 

       -         94,880 18,785        -      113,665 1,434 112,231       -     113,665 
Financial assets not measured 
   at fair value: 
 Corporate bonds      5 9 -      -     -      9  
 Government of Jamaica securities  5 1,244 -      -     -      1,244  
 Resale agreements   4 2,298 -      -     -      2,298  
 Loans receivable 6 20,312 -      -     -      20,312  
 Cash and cash equivalents  4,480 -      -     -      4,480  
 Owed by related party  36 -      -     -      36  
 Other assets 7   3,452        -           -            -        3,452   

   31,831        -           -            -      31,831   
 

Financial liabilities not measured 
   at fair value: 
 Other liabilities  -     -      -     5,826 5,826  
 Notes payable   16 -     -      -     56,298 56,298  
 Owed to related party 15 -       -      -     353 353 
 Repurchase agreements 14       -            -           -       44,075   44,075  

         -            -           -     106,552 106,552   
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
29. Financial instruments – fair values (cont’d) 
 

(c) Accounting classifications and fair values (cont’d): 
 

 Company 
  2015  

   Carrying amount   Fair value*  
     Fair value  
     through Other 
   Loan and Available   profit financial 
  Notes receivables for sale   or loss liabilities Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 

Financial assets measured  
   at fair value: 
 Quoted equities 5 -     308 -     -      308 308 -     -     308 
 Government of Jamaica securities 5 -     1,484 -     -     1,484 -     1,484 -     1,484 
 Foreign currency forward 5 -     -     723 -     723 -     723 -     723 
 Global bonds 5 -     29,243 -     -     29,243 -     29,243 -     29,243 
 Mutual funds 5 -     19,603 -     -     19,603 -     19,603 -     19,603 
 Corporate bonds 5 -     45,188 -     -     45,188 -     45,188 -     45,188 
 Credit link notes 5       -           -     17,483       -       17,483       -       17,483       -       17,483 

   5     -       95,826 18,206     -       114,032      308 113,724     -       114,032 
Financial assets not measured 
   at fair value: 
 Corporate bonds      5 -     -     -     -     -         
 Global bonds  -     -      -      -      -         
 Government of Jamaica securities  5 -     -     -     -     -         
 Resale agreements   4 -     -     -     -     -         
 Loans receivable 6 9,505 -     -     -     9,505     
 Cash and cash equivalents  946 -     -     -     946     
 Other assets 7 42 -     -     -     42     
 Owed by related parties     1,287       -           -           -        1,287     

    11,780     -           -           -       11,780     
 

Financial liabilities not measured 
   at fair value: 
 Other liabilities  -     -     -     3,103 3,103     
 Note payable   16 -     -     -     93,262 93,262     
 Repurchase agreements  14 -     -     -     21,538 21,538     
 Owed to related parties 15       -           -           -            331        331     

       -           -           -       118,234 118,234     
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
29. Financial instruments – fair values (cont’d) 
 

(c) Accounting classifications and fair values (cont’d): 
 

  2014  

   Carrying amount   Fair value*  
     Fair value  
     through Other 
   Loan and Available   profit financial 
  Notes receivables for sale   or loss liabilities Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial assets measured  
   at fair value: 
 Quoted equities 5 -     1,422 -     -     1,422 1,422 -      -     1,422 
 Government of Jamaica securities 5 -     1,556 -     -     1,556 -    1,556 -     1,556 
 Global bonds 5 -     25,721 -     -     25,721 -    25,721 -     25,721 
 Mutual funds 5 -     16,843 -     -     16,843 -    16,843 -     16,843 
 Corporate bonds 5 -     28,993 -     -     28,993 -    28,993 -     28,993 
 Credit link notes 5       -            -      18,782       -     18,782     -      18,782       -       18,782 

   5     -         74,535 18,782       -     93,317 1,422   91,895       -       93,317 
Financial assets not measured 
   at fair value: 
 Corporate bonds      5 -     -      -     -     -      
 Government of Jamaica securities  5 -     -      -     -     -      
 Resale agreements   4 -     -      -     -     -      
 Loans receivable 6 9,817 -      -     -     9,817  
 Cash and cash equivalents  255 -      -     -     255  
 Other assets 7 100 -      -     -     100  
 Owed by related parties       175        -            -           -          175  

    10,347        -            -           -     10,347   
 

Financial liabilities not measured 
   at fair value: 
 Other liabilities  -       -      -     101 101  
 Note payable   16 -       -      -     48,754 48,754  
 Owed to related parties 15 -       -      -     2,075 2,075 
 Repurchase agreements 14          -              -            -     20,482 20,482  

            -              -            -     71,412 71,412  
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PROVEN INVESTMENTS LIMITED 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
March 31, 2015  
 
 
30. Earnings per stock unit 
  
 Earning per stock unit (“EPS”) is computed by dividing the profit attributable to stockholders 

of the parent, of $5,365,000 (2013: $3,788,000), by the weighted average number of ordinary 
stock units in issue during the year, numbering 356,400,194(2013: 294,951,884). 

 
31. Distribution to equity holders 

 
 

  Group and Company 
  2015 2014 
  $’000 $’000 
 

Distribution to ordinary shareholders at $0.90 (2013: $0.89) 
   per share - parent 3,429 2,651 
 - non-controlling interest    221     -      

  3,650 2,651  

32. Lease commitments 
 
  At the reporting date, there were operating lease rental commitments, payable as follows: 
 

  Group and Company 
  2015 2014 
  $’000 $’000 
 

Within one year 354 62  

Subsequent years   805   32  

  1,159   94  

33. Subsequent event 
 
(a) On March 24, 2015, the Company made 122,896,618 of its ordinary shares available for 

subscription by way of a renounceable rights issue of 1 new ordinary share for every 
block of 3 ordinary shares held at a subscription price of US$0.16/J$18.50 per share, and 
a further conditional offer of a maximum of 122,896,618 additional new ordinary shares 
at a subscription price of also US$0.16/J$18.50 per share. The offer closed on April 17, 
2015 with applications for a total of 182,905,922 ordinary shares. 
 

(b) On May 18, 2015, the Company purchased an additional 1,249,608 shares in Access 
Financial Services Limited, thereby increasing its interest to 49.72%. 



92

W
e.

 A
re

. 
P
R

O
V
E
N

Investments Limited

N
otes






The secret of success is 
constancy to purpose.
– Benjamin Disraeli
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